
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday, 27th June, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside - Number One 
Riverside

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

4.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

5.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

6.  MINUTES 4 - 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools and 

Public Document Pack



Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 28th March 2018. 

7.  INFORMAL MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE'S MEMBERSHIP 8 - 12

To consider the notes of an informal meeting of the Committee’s 
membership, with other Council members, regarding the IICSA 
Independent Inquiry  

8.  MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT: QUARTER 4 2017/18 13 - 41

To consider the Market Oversight report – 4th Quarter 2017/18 

9.  LINK4LIFE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 2017-18 42 - 63

To consider an Annual report relating to Link4Life’s activities in 
2017/18 

10.  ADULT, CHILDREN & PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE PLANS 
2017-18 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

64 - 75

Performance information relating to the fourth quarter of 2017/18 

11.  SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 76 - 92

To note details of complaints and compliments relating to social care 
services  

12.  SPRINGHILL HOSPICE QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017/2018 93 - 135

A report relating to activity at Springhill Hospice, in 2017/18 that is 
presented for information purposes 

13.  HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

136 - 138

To note the Committee’s Work Programme for 2018/19 



Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members
Councillor Cecile Biant Councillor Lynne Brosnan
Councillor Wendy Cocks Councillor Patricia Mary Dale
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Ray Dutton
Councillor James Gartside Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Jean Hornby Councillor Alan McCarthy
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Patricia Sullivan

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 28th March 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Cocks (in the Chair); Councillors Sultan Ali, Gartside, 
O’Neill, Smith and Sullivan.

OFFICERS: D. David (Assistant Director – Adult Care (Commissioning), L. 
Shaw (Adult Care Service) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: M. Hynes, I. Stringer and M. Gamlyn (North West 
Ambulance Service)  

APOLOGIES
52 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ali Ahmed, 
Cecile Biant, Dutton, Meredith and Donna Williams.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
53 Further to the Council’s Code of Conduct, Councillor Sultan Ali and 
Councillor Sullivan each declared a personal interest in respect of Minute 58 
(Additional Funding for Adaptations).

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
54 There were no urgent items of business for the Committee to consider.

MINUTES
55 Decision:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Health, School and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held 25th January 2018 be approved as a correct record.

NORTH WEST AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST
56 The Committee received a detailed presentation from representatives 
of the North West Ambulance Service on two main areas of work:  Emergency 
Care and Patient Transport Service. The Emergency Care service has come 
under particular scrutiny following the Kerslake Report and winter pressures 
effects on ambulance services.  The Committee were told about the new 
performance indicators which are not yet being met but are improving and 
how they are trying to get the right response to each call to ensure the best 
care although this will not necessarily mean a hospital emergency 
department. 

The Patient Transport service provides 45,000 patient journeys in the borough 
each year.  While 80% of these are planned journeys for appointments and 
treatment, 20% are linked to hospital discharge and unplanned and where 
most complaints arise.  

Increased demand, average travel times across Greater Manchester and staff 
recruitment and retention while funding is reduced are their biggest 

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



challenges.  Members queried the location of ambulance stations, support for 
staff after trauma and the promise to always have a paramedic on board 
following the closure of Rochdale A&E but the transformation of the NHS 
services is changing this picture again and so rather than taking everyone to 
A&E, taking them to the right place is now given higher priority.

ADULT CARE MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT: QUARTER 3 - 2017/18
57 The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director - Adult 
Care (Commissioning) regarding the Market Oversight Plan which provided 
quality assurance information for services commissioned by the Adult Care 
service for quarter 3 in 2017/18 (October – December).

The Committee noted that the Adult Care Service was currently on-track with 
all of its current reviews.

In considering the report a Member sought clarification on a care home 
detailed in the report which had been rated as ‘inadequate’ by the Care 
Quality Commission. The Assistant Director undertook to investigate this 
matter further and to write to Members of the Committee with information 
thereon.   

A Member also sought clarification on the element of the report regarding 
‘family satisfaction’ and requested that future reports contain more information 
that expands on this.  

Decision: That (1) the Assistant Director – Adult Care (Commissioning) be 
requested to investigate the matter of the Care Home, detailed in her report, 
that was found by the Care Quality Commission to be inadequate and to write 
to Members of the Committee with information thereon including reasons for 
this rating and measures that the Care Home was taking in terms of remedial 
action.
(2)   the Assistant Director – Adult Care (Commissioning) be requested to 
include in future reports more detailed narrative information in the ‘family 
satisfaction’ section of the report so as to give the Committee a fuller 
understanding of issues that may be of concern to family members.

ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ADAPTATIONS
58 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Assistant Director – Adult 
Care (Commissioning) that provided information on the additional government 
funding for adaptations and how Adult Care Services was making best use of 
this funding to support elderly, disabled and vulnerable residents to continue 
to live as independently as possible in their own homes for as long as they 
want to or are able to.

The report was presented as the Committee had requested additional 
information on the important role adaptations can play in supporting people to 
remain independent and how additional Government funding was enabling a 
more innovative approach to supporting people who may not traditionally have 
been eligible for support.

Page 5



The Government had increased funding for the Disabled Facilities Grant and 
had made the decision to move it into the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, on the 
basis that there is a growing evidence base on the contribution that housing 
can make to good health and wellbeing. At a system level, poor housing 
costed the NHS around £1.4 billion per annum and there were also costs to 
local government and social care.

In considering the report Members of the Committee sought clarification on a 
number of technical and operational details that were raised in the report 
suggesting that a further report on this matter, updating on progress being 
made, be presented to the Committee in approximately six months.

Decision:
That the report be welcomed and a further report, updating the Committee on 
progress being made with regard to the implementation of the Disabilities 
Facilities Grant be presented to a future meeting of the Committee, in 
approximately six months.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
59 Decision:
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item of business, in accordance with the provisions of Section 
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.
 
Reason for Decision:
Should the press and public remain during debate on this item there may be 
the disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

ADULT CARE FEE LEVELS FOR COMMISSIONING SERVICES FOR 
2018/19
60 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Assistant Director -Adult 
Care (Commissioning) which had sought, and received, approval from the 
Integrated Commissioning Board, at that Board’s meeting on 13th March 2018, 
for fee rate increases for a range of Adult Social Care services delivered by 
externally commissioned providers in Rochdale Borough. 

The Integrated Commissioning Board had been required to make the relevant 
decisions as the responsibility fell within the context of the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities in relation to the Adult Social Care Market, as set out in the 
Care Act 2014. The Care Act requires that the Council ensured that there was 
a sustainable market to meet the adult social care needs of its residents. The 
duties include a requirement that Councils pay fees at a level that enables 
providers to retain an effective workforce and, at least, to comply with the 
National Living Wage.  
              
The Council’s Adult Social Care Service, wherever possible, worked 
collaboratively with providers to reach agreement regarding contracting issues 
including fee levels. Consequently, a four week period of consultation had 

Page 6



commenced with Home Care, Outreach, Care Home and Supported Living 
providers on 1st February 2018 on the proposed new fee rates. Feedback 
from consultation has been taken into account and the proposed fee rate 
increases were amended based on this feedback.

Decision:
That the Committee endorses the decision of the Integrated Commissioning 
Board, at its meeting on 13th March 2017 (minute 87 refers), to approve the 
recommendations that were detailed at paragraph 4.48 of the submitted 
report.

Page 7



HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Notes of a meeting held Wednesday, 23rd May 2018

PRESENT:  (Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
members) Councillor Dutton (in the Chair); Councillors Biant, Cocks, Dale, 
Davidson, Gartside, Hartley, Hornby, Susan Smith and Sullivan.
Other Council members in attendance: Councillors Rowbotham, Daalat Ali, 
Sultan Ali, West, Boriss, Martin, Taylor, Angela Smith, O’Neill, Rana, Malcolm, 
Heakin, Stott, Hussain, Shakil Ahmed, Donna Williams, Beswick, Kelly, 
Howard, Winkler, Sheerin, Paolucci, Rush, Hartley, Emsley, Rashid and Holly.

OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), G. Hopper (Director of Children’s 
Services), J. Booth (Chair of the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children 
Board), M. Widdup (Director of Neighbourhoods), D. Wilcock (Assistant 
Director – Legal, Governance and Human Resources), D. Brierley, S. Miah 
(Neighbourhoods Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate)   

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  10 members of the public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: (Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee members): Councillor McCarthy; other members: 
Councillors Brett, Dearnley, Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Joinson, Peter 
Williams, Bamford, Burke, Zaman, Nickson, Meredith, Robinson and 
Sameena Zaheer.

IICSA - A SPECIAL BRIEFING FOR ELECTED MEMBERS
1. The Chair welcomed everybody to the meeting reminding those 
present that the purpose was to discuss the findings of the national 
Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICA) following its investigation 
into historic events in Rochdale.

The Chair asked the Committee and others present to reflect that the national 
inquiry and the investigation was primarily about victims of child sexual abuse 
and to note that the inquiry had given them a voice after many years of them 
not having a voice.

The report that was presented to the meeting had been prepared following the 
publication of the IICSA report into its Inquiry into historical events in which 
children in institutional settings were harmed between the 1960’s and mid 
1990’s. The report summarised the findings from the Independent Inquiry 
report, its context and process, but importantly to provide members with 
information and assurance about what has changed since that period.

The Chair advised that the meeting represented an opportunity for Members 
of the Council, to demonstrate commitment to child protection issues.

Page 8

Agenda Item 7



The Chief Executive reported that the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual 
Abuse (IICSA) was established as an independent statutory inquiry under the 
Enquiries Act 2005 in March 2015, by the then Home Secretary Teresa May. 
In November 2015 the Inquiry announced that it would commence with 13 
areas of investigation. One of those was “An inquiry into allegations of the 
sexual abuse and exploitation of children residing at or attending Cambridge 
House Boys’ Hostel, Knowl View School, and other institutions where their 
placement was arranged or provided by Rochdale Borough Council.” The 
Council had made its support for the Inquiry clear from the outset.

Public hearings had taken place over three weeks between 9th and 27th 
October 2017 in London where the Council was a core participant along with 
complainants, two police forces and the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS). 
Staff and politicians, past and present were called to give evidence alongside 
a wide range of evidence from witness statements and historical documents.

A report of the findings reached as a result of the hearing was published on 
12th April 2018.

There followed a detailed presentation that was jointly delivered by the Chief 
Executive, the Director of Children’s Services and the Independent Chair of 
the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children Board. The presentation 
focused upon:
• The inquiry, background and focus
• Context
• Rochdale’s role
• What happened to children in Cambridge House and Knowl View
• Key areas of concern/failure
• Political Accountability
• Could it happen now?
• Where do we get assurance currently
• The role of Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Board
• Learning for councillors

The Chief Executive reiterated the apology that the Council had issued in 
respect of events that took place at Cambridge House and Knowl View and 
other establishments in Rochdale had cast shadows over the town for many 
years and have undoubtedly caused pain to many people.

In terms of whether such events could happen now the Director of Children’s 
Services and the Independent Chair of the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding 
Children Board highlighted procedures and practices that were now in place. 
These included a Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) who had 
responsibility for allegations management. The Council’s various procedures 
and policies were regularly updated and set to national standards for 
Residential Settings. There were monthly ‘Regulation 44’ visits by elected 
members and other independent professional people to residential care 
facilities in the Borough. There are quarterly meetings between the Assistant 
Director (Children’s Social Care) and residential managers. There are also 
annual visits to all children’s homes by the Director of Children’s Services and 

Page 9



the portfolio holder for Children’s Services. The role of Ofsted had also been 
strengthened with twice yearly (unannounced) inspections to ensure all of the 
above measures were in place. There is also now a major focus, by the 
Children’s Directorate on listening to children and the development of 
engagement strategies to support the formal role of Children in the Council’s 
Care.

At the conclusion of the presentation the Chair permitted questions from the 
meeting initially from members of the health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee then from other Councillors who were in attendance and 
from members of the public.

a. Question from Councillor Gartside: Why did the inquiry decide to look 
at Rochdale? Was it because we have or had more of a problem with 
child sexual abuse than other places? The Chief Executive reported 
that the IICSA inquiry had not advised the Council why they decided to 
consider Rochdale in the first phase of public hearings but there was 
significant interest in high profile individuals such as Cyril Smith at the 
time the Inquiry was commissioned. Further hearings would be held 
that examined other institutions and local authorities across England 
including the City Of Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, Leicestershire and 
Lambeth.

b. Question from Councillor Davidson: We all know that protecting 
children is a council priority, are we doing enough to let our residents 
know? The Director of Children’s Services reported that the Council 
was engaging with residents and particularly parents through a range 
of different means, including drama, supported by different 
organisations and agencies across the Borough and she was pleased 
that local and regional media were now showing greater interest in this 
issue and giving it prominence in their detailed coverage following 
observations of the work of Sunrise. 

c. Question from Councillor Biant: Why wasn’t Cyril Smith ever charged? 
The Chief Executive reported that Cyril Smith had twice been 
investigated by the police (including by the Lancashire Constabulary in 
the 1960’s prior to the establishment of the Greater Manchester Police 
force) and on both occasions their findings had been forwarded to the 
Crown Prosecution Service who, on both occasions, ruled that there 
was insufficient evidence to proceed with a prosecution against Smith.  
The Chief Executive reported that the Crown Prosecution Service (now 
the Director of Public Prosecutions) had subsequently apologised, 
publically, for their failings to prosecute. 

d. Question from Councillor Sullivan: For years there has been talk of 
cover ups at the council – records being destroyed, people being 
protected, political pacts. What did the inquiry say about that? The 
Chief Executive reported that the Inquiry stated that it had found no 
evidence to suggest there had been a cover-up or a conspiracy, 
amongst the Borough’s political groups and other individuals to guard 
against certain people being investigated and/or prosecuted.  

e. Question from Councillor Rowbotham: can assurance be provided that 
members of the Council are more aware of the issues raised in the 

Page 10



report, especially in terms of cultural and institutional attitudes? The 
Chair of the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children Board reported 
that measures had been taken to engage with members and 
development sessions had been held with members that highlighted 
the importance of safeguarding children.

f. Question from Councillor Kelly: the Inquiry indicated that a member of 
the Council had lied on oath, in giving evidence and what measures is 
the Council taking to deal with this? The Chief Executive confirmed that 
the issues raised were matters for Greater Manchester police and the 
appropriate political party to deal with. 

g. Question from Councillor Rowbotham: have victims been given 
information about how to claim compensation? The Chief Executive 
confirmed that victims are given appropriate support if/when they come 
forward.

h. Question from Councillor Taylor: in addition to the visits detailed in the 
report, are there unannounced and unscheduled visits to the Borough’s 
residential children’s care facilities? The Director of Children’s Services 
reported that such unannounced and unscheduled visits were 
undertaken including by Ofsted the regulator.

i. Question from Councillor Paolucci: what measures are in place to 
regulate private adoption agencies? The Director of Children’s Services 
reported that private adoption agencies were subject to the same 
rigorous inspection procedures as local authorities were. 

j. Question from Mrs Lynsey (member of the public): sought confirmation 
of joint and partnership working to assist in the safeguarding of children 
in the Borough. The Director of Children’s Services offered to meet with 
Mrs. Lynsey to discuss this matter further.   

k. Councillor Rana: would Greater Manchester Police be seeking to 
prosecute perpetrators detailed in the report? The Chief Executive 
advised that this was a matter for Greater Manchester Police to pursue.

l. Question from Councillor Boriss: the report, that was submitted to the 
meeting referred to 89% of care leavers finding suitable 
accommodation and he sought assurances regarding the other 11%? 
The Director of Children’s Services reported that unsuitable 
accommodation could include those who may be in custody and others 
who may have returned to live with their family against advice  if this 
was in conflict with their plan (e.g. if it was considered unsafe to place 
these children with their families). 

m. Question from Councillor Rowbotham: sought assurances regarding 
improvements that had been made to the provision of sexual health 
services, both from within the Council and by the National Health 
Service and what could the Council do to make improvements in this 
regard? The Chair indicated that the Health, Schools and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee would in due course be looking into 
this specific matter in more detail.

n. Question from Mr. Chadwick (member of the public):  was the 
government proposing to financially compensate the Council, regarding 
costs arising from the inquiry? The Director of Children’s Services 
confirmed that the Council had applied to the Inquiry for funding which 
was refused, and received no additional funding from the government.

Page 11



At the conclusion of the questions the Chair thanked all who were in 
attendance and closed the meeting. 

Page 12



Agenda Item

Report to  Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting 27th June 2018
Portfolio Adult Social Care
Report Author Dianne David
Public Document

Market Oversight Report 

1. Executive Summary

1.1     The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. 

1.2 The Committee has requested quarterly updates on quality assurance 
information for the services commissioned by the Adult Care service. 
Appendix 1 of this report provides this information for quarter 4 in 
2017/18.

1. Recommendation

2.1     That the committee consider the content of the Market Oversight report.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1      The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. The 
market oversight report presents quality assurance information for quarter 
4 of 2017/18 for the committee to scrutinise.

4. Key Points for Consideration
                       

4.1      Appendix 1 provides detailed information on quality assurance for adult 
care commissioned services. The key points are summarised below:

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



In quarter four 45 service providers were reviewed using the quality 
assurance toolkit. Of these services 28 were in borough services and 17 
were out of borough services.

In quarter four 12 services that Rochdale Borough commissions (in 
borough and out of borough) were inspected by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). Of these 3 (25%) were rated as good, 7 (58%) were 
rated as requiring improvement and 2 (17%) were rated as Inadequate. 
These percentages only reflect the inspections in the last quarter of the 
year, the position for all CQC inspections for 2017/18 are 1 (1.2%) was 
rated as outstanding, 52 (64%) were rated as good, 23 (28%) were rated 
as good and 6 (7%) were rated as inadequate. The annual figures for in 
borough services that were inspected were 37 (77%) rated as good, 9 
(19%) rated as requiring improvement and 2 ( 4%) rated as inadequate. 
The annual figures for out of borough services that were inspected were 1 
(3%) were rated as outstanding, 15 (44%) were rated as good, 14 (41%) 
were rated as requiring improvement and 4 (12%) were rated as 
inadequate. 

In quarter four 45 complaints were received by the commissioning team 
about provider services. Of these 38 were resolved, 7 are currently being 
investigated and 1 was transferred to another team. The highest 
proportion of complaints raised involved issues with the standard of care 
or poor practice. The commissioning team investigates the complaints 
received about providers and works with providers to improve the quality 
of care and address instances of poor practice.

Information is gathered from providers about the complaints that they 
receive from service users and families. In quarter four the information 
gathered demonstrates that providers received 22 complaints and that 18 
were resolved whilst 4 are still being investigated. The response rate from 
providers is low and we are working with them to improve this.

As part of the quality assurance process we carry out family, service user 
and staff questionnaires for those services being reviewed. In total 69 
surveys were returned. 100% of the service users were satisfied with the 
support they received and 70% of families were satisfied with the support 
their family member received. 81% of staff who responded said that they 
received the training and personal development they needed to carry out 
their job.

The commissioning team have recently reviewed the questionnaires and 
the new versions are attached for information in Appendix 2. The Quality 
Assurance Officers will support the staff, service users and families to 
complete the questionnaires when the visit the services and will discuss 
with them the quality of care provided. 

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no financial implications relating to this report.

Page 14



6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1   The report identifies the outcomes of the CQC inspections of regulated 
adult care services in Rochdale borough which have been inspected since 
between January 2018 and March 2018. Any risks associated with this 
are managed by the Adult Care commissioning team who work with the 
provider to improve the quality of the services.

 
For Further Information Contact: Dianne David

Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 922936

Page 15

mailto:Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk


Market Oversight Report 
for Quarter 4 2017-18

Page 16



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 1

The information provided below shows commissioning activity for Quarter 4 2017/18
Contents include:

 Quality Assurance Reviews 

 CQC Ratings

 Market Oversight feedback

 Satisfaction results

P
age 17



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 2

Service Providers reviewed during Quarter 4 2017/18 for all client groups:

22

10

3 3

7

Older People Learning 
Disability

Mental Health Physical 
Disability

Prevention
0

5

10

15

20

25

Providers reviewed- Quarter  4  2017/18

P
age 18



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 3

Reviews broken down by In Borough & Out of Borough

Lead Provider reviewed
In 

borough Out of borough Total
Older People 6 16 22
Learning Disability 10 0 10
Mental Health 2 1 3
Physical Disability 3 0 3
Prevention 7 0 7

CQC Inspections split by individual ratings (April-2017 – Mar-2018) for all client groups:

 Ratings In borough Percentage Out of borough Percentage 
Outstanding 0 0% 1 3%

Good 37 77% 15 44%

Requires improvement 9 19% 14 41%

Inadequate 2 4% 4 12%

P
age 19



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 4

0

37

9
21

15 14

4

Outstanding Good Requires improvement Inadequate
0

10

20

30

40

In borough Out of borough

Overall CQC ratings Apr 17 -Mar 18 

Adult Care Market Oversight feedback

The Adult Care Commissioning Team record issues in relation to commissioned services that are raised with them by service users and other 
stakeholders. A summary of the information gathered from April 17 to Mar 2018 is included in the table below. In quarter 4 of 2017/18 45 
concerns were raised with the commissioning team. Of these 38 were resolved, 7 are outstanding and 1 was transferred to other services to 
investigate and provide a response.  The outstanding complaints require further investigation.

 COMMISSIONING TEAM INFORMATION (April 17- Mar 18) Quarter 1 
17/18

Quarter 2 
17/18

Quarter 3 
17/18

Quarter 4
17/18

Number of complaints received 18 31 37 45

Complaints resolved 10 27 26 38

Outstanding complaints 8 4 11 7

Complaints transferred to other departments external to the    
Commissioning team 4 11 11 1
Compliments to Adult Care Commissioning about providers 0 0 0 0

P
age 20



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 5

18

10 8

31
27

4

47

26

11

45

38

7

Number of complaints 
received

Complaints resolved Outstanding complaints
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Quarter 1 17/18
Quarter 2 17/18
Quarter 3 17/18
Quarter 4 17/18

Commissioning Complaints log

There has been a mixture of complaints about providers including complaints about carers not following care plans, poor quality of care, carers 
not attending, medication issues and staffing issues. 

The number of complaints received in each month of Quarters 1, 2, 3 and 4 2017/18 are illustrated below along with the number of complaints 
per service area:

P
age 21



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 6

22
20

11
10 10

14

21

17

9

23

15

7

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18
0

5

10

15

20

25

Complaints received April 17 - March 18

 

P
age 22



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 7

2 0

15

10 0

31

02 0

45

01 0

43

1

Learning Disability Mental Health Older People Physical Disability
0

10

20

30

40

50

Quarter 1 2017/18
Quarter 2 2017/18
Quarter 3 2017/18
Quarter 4 2017/18

Total number of complaints by service area

The issues being raised have been investigated with care providers and Contract Managers continue to work with providers to ensure high 
standards of care provision for service users, some are pursued under the Quality Assurance spot visit process. Other complaints have been 
passed on to the care management teams for further investigation.

Recurring Themes   
Standard of Care/Poor Practice 10 27.03%
Infection Control/Medication Issue 3 8.11%
Staffing Issues 6 16.22%
Neglect 3 8.11%
Invoice/Payment Query 2 5.41%
Moving & Handling 3 8.11%
Timekeeping/Missed Visits 2 5.41%
Other 8 21.62%

37 100.00%

P
age 23



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 8

1
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Standard of Care/Poor Practice
Infection Control/Medication Issue
Staffing Issues
Neglect
Invoice/Payment Query
Moving & Handling
Timekeeping/Missed Visits
Other

Recurring Themes Quarter 4

Commissioned Provider Concerns 
Adult Care Commissioning Team collects information from providers about the concerns that they receive and manage internally. This has been 
done on an annual basis as part of the quality monitoring process. The response rate from providers to the request for this information is low 
we are, however, working with providers to increase the response rate. 

The table below shows a summary of the information available for the last 4 quarters:

 PROVIDER INFORMATION (Apr 17- Mar 18) Quarter 1 17-18 Quarter 2 17-18 Quarter 3 17-18 Quarter 4 17-18

Number of complaints received 8 28 37 22

Number of complaints resolved 6 23 33 18

Number of outstanding complaints
2 5 4

4

As part of complaints monitoring, we ask providers to categorise the complaints they receive. Of the providers that have attempted to do this, 
the table below illustrates the kind of concerns being raised.

P
age 24



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 9

With effect from Quarter 2 17/18 we have asked the providers to use different categories for recording complaints which give a clearer picture 
of the issues arising.

Themes
Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18

Standards of Care/Poor Practice 11 17 12

Infection Control/Medication Issues 1 2 0

Staffing Issues 15 3 3

Neglect 1 0 0

Invoice/Payment Query 2 0 2

Timekeeping/Missed Visit 2 2 0

Other 7 9 4

‘Other’, where specified, includes: 

 Purchasing a car for her husband and not receiving a response in her time constraints.
 Family member unhappy that their partner is not always able to access a variety of activities available at all times to meet their level of 

needs.
 Tenant causing damage to property  
 Staffing Issues
 Improve communication between staff and relatives
 Policies and Procedures must be followed 
 Building Issues (Leak in room) 

 ‘Lessons learnt’ from complaints by providers include:

 Staffing Levels re-evaluated and increased
 Review continence assessments, care and product in a more timely manner. 
 Communicate with families to manage their expectations surrounding continence and clothes.
 Improve communication between staff and relatives. 
 Reviewing and updating care plans
 Multidisciplinary working needs to work effectively and we need to follow up on actions.
 Improved communication in respite services to be able to better respond for bookings.

P
age 25



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 10

Satisfaction Questionnaires Q4 2017/18 (Jan - Mar)

Questionnaires Count
Family 28
Service User 9
Staff 32

The intelligence gained from gathering satisfaction data helps determine the Quality Assurance Officers focus for the quality assurance visits. 

Samples of the responses from the questions in the Satisfaction questionnaires are illustrated in the tables below. 

Overall the feedback received is positive but we continue to follow up any negative or unsatisfactory feedback.

Service User Satisfaction % satisfied % fairly satisfied % dissatisfied

The support I get works well 100% 0% 0%
The people who support me understand me 100% 0% 0%
I feel safe where I live 89% 11% 0%
Staff listen to me and what I want 89% 11% 0%

Families Satisfaction Always Sometimes Never
The support  my family member receives works well 70% 29% 1%
My family member feels safe where they live 95% 5% 0%
Staff listen to  my family member and what they want 90% 10% 0%
I am able to be involved in developing support plans and 
reviewing them with my family member if I want to 77% 14% 9%

P
age 26



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 11

Staff Satisfaction Always Sometimes Never

I have access to clear records on how a client wants to be 
supported and I  consistently use this on a day to day basis and 
update this regularly

88% 6% 6%

I am part of a team which believe that people should have 
maximum choice and control in their lives, as part of a local 
community

54% 46% 0%

I can see that staff are carefully matched to people and rotas are 
personalised to all clients

89% 9% 2%

I work in a way that ensures that risk are thought through in a 
person centred way, with the person and family centrally 
involved

91% 9% 0%

I receive training and personal development in areas that I need 
to do my job

81% 19% 0%

P
age 27



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 12

Services Inspected by CQC during Quarter 4 (Jan to March 2018) 

Service Type Service Name 

IN – OOB 

Overall CQC Rating Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led

Residential Apsley House Rochdale Good Good Good Good Good Good

Residential Beech House Rest 
Home Rochdale Good Good Requires 

Improvement Good Good Good

Residential
Beechwood Lodge 
Residential & 
Dementia Care Home

Rochdale Requires 
improvement Requires improvement Good Good Requires 

improvement Requires improvement

Residential & 
Respite Braeside Dual Home Rochdale Requires 

Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement 

Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement 

Residential & 
Respite Marland Court Rochdale Requires 

Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 
Improvement Good Good Requires Improvement 

Residential Briarmede Rest 
Home Rochdale Requires 

Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 
improvement Good Good Requires Improvement 

Residential Middleton Hall  Rochdale Requires 
Improvement Good Requires 

Improvement Good Good Requires Improvement 

Residential Oaklands Longsight Longsight Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 

Improvement Good Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement

Residential Browfield House Bury Inadequate Inadequate Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement Inadequate

Residential Deerplay Residential 
Home

Bacup Good Good Good Good Good Good

Residential Kenmore Kirklees Inadequate Inadequate Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement Inadequate 

Residential Heightside House Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 

Improvement Good Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement

The two Out of Borough Homes that were rated as inadequate on inspection are both being monitored by CQC and the host 
Authority.  The commissioning team receives updates from the hosting Authority and Provider and Rochdale’s Care management 
team carries out welfare visits on the service users to ensure that they are safe and well. 

P
age 28



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 1

Appendix 2: Family Questionniares

Rochdale Adult Care Families Questionnaire 2018 - 2019

As part of our contract review process we are keen to engage with as many 
family members and stakeholders in relation to services for adults 

PLEASE NOTE: If you do have any concerns regarding your family member or 
any other vulnerable adult you can contact the following agencies and speak to 
them in confidence. This questionnaire can be completed anonymously if you 
wish but if you would like us to act on any information that you provide we will 
need to know how to contact you. 
If you don’t want to answer a question, or it is not applicable, then move on 
to the next question. 

 Rochdale Adult Care Services Vulnerable Adults and Learning Disabilities 
on 0300 303 8886

 Mental Health Team on 01706 676600

 Care Quality Commission (CQC) on 03000 616161

Are you male or female?

Please tick () one box

Male
Female
Prefer not to say

How old are you? ________________ (year’s)

Page 29



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 2

To which of these groups do you consider you belong?  
Please tick () one box

White British 
White Other
Asian
Black
Mixed
Other Ethnic Group 

Name of Service Provider : ______________________________________

Address where service is provided: ________________________________

Printed name: ______________________________________

Relationship to service user: ______________________________________

Date: ________________

1. Safeguarding

a. Do you know how to report anything that you have concerns about?
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

b. How would you know where to report an issue you are unhappy with?
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

c. Have you seen or heard anything that concerns you about your family member’s 
care/support?
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 30



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 3

2.  Quality of Service

a. In your view, please rate the quality of the overall service provided:

Excellent Very Good   Good        Average       Poor

b. What improvements, if any, do you feel would enhance the quality of the service?
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

3. Service User Needs

a. Are the service users supported to access community services during the day?

 Yes       No

Please give reasons for your view
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

b. Does the service promote independence and choice for its service users?

 Yes       No

Please give reasons for your view
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

c. Does the service offer an appropriate range of activities which are of interest to the     
         service users and encourage participation? 

Yes No

If No, what activities do you believe would encourage wider participation and 
interest?
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

d. Do the activities offered support and encourage the development of practical, social 
         and communication skills?

Page 31



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 4

Yes No
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

4. Service User Involvement

a. Do you feel the service engages with and encourages service user participation in 
decisions relating to how services are delivered?

 Yes       No

Please give reasons for your view
_________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

b. Do you feel the service provider consults adequately with the service user and/or 
their representatives?

 Yes       No

Please give reasons for your view
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

Any further comments: (Please use this space or the blank page overleaf to 
provide any feedback or suggestions that we might use to improve the way 
things are done or the range of services offered).

Page 32



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 1

Appendix 2: Staff Questionnaire

Rochdale Adult Care Staff Questionnaire 2018 - 2019

As part of our contract review process we are keen to engage with as many family 
members and stakeholders in relation to services for adults 

PLEASE NOTE: If you do have any concerns regarding your family member or any other 
vulnerable adult you can contact the following agencies and speak to them in confidence. 
This questionnaire can be completed anonymously if you wish but if you would like us to 
act on any information that you provide we will need to know how to contact you. 
If you don’t want to answer a question, or it is not applicable, then move on to the 
next question. 

 Rochdale Adult Care Services Vulnerable Adults and Learning Disabilities on 0300 
303 8886

 Mental Health Team on 01706 676600

 Care Quality Commission (CQC) on 03000 616161

Are you male or female?

Please tick () one box

Male
Female
Prefer not to say

How old are you? ________________ (year’s)

To which of these groups do you consider you belong?  
Please tick () one box

White British 
White Other
Asian
Black
Mixed
Other Ethnic Group 

Page 33



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 2

QUALITY ASSURANCE STAFF QUESTIONAIRE 
ALL SERVICES 

NAME OF ORGANISATION: ………………………………………………………

NAME OF STAFF MEMBER: (OPTIONAL) ……………………………………………………            

Date:…………………………..

Introduction: This questionnaire has been developed to help us to assess the service that 
the organisation provides, and to assist in improving the quality of this service. Your 
comments will be confidential, unless there are direct concerns about the safety of yourself 
and others. We will consult with you if this is the case.

1. What training and refreshers have you 
had in the areas listed on the last 
page?

2. What opportunities are you given to a) 
discuss your training needs and b) 
attend training days or courses?

3. Would you like to make any further 
comments about 
training offered by the provider?

4. How often do you receive supervision 
and appraisals/meet with your 
supervisor?
Do you receive a written record of 
these meetings? 

5. What is a care plan?

6. Where is the care plan kept and who 
has access to them?

Page 34



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 3

7. How do you know what the service 
user needs assistance with?

8. What involvement do you have in;

 a) developing care plans

 b )implementing care plans

 c) monitoring and reviewing care     
     Plans.

9. What do you do if anything arises that 
is not in a care plan or that requires 
earlier review than usual? 

10. What do you understand to be a risk 
assessment?

11. Where do you write about what you 
have done during your shift? How 
often do you write this?

12. Do you feel staffing levels are 
adequate?

13. Are there any issues you would like to 
discuss/ If so, please indicate here If 
you wish you can contact a member 
of the team on 01706 922414 

Page 35



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 4

, how often repeated, who provided the course?

PLEASE DETAIL THE DATES YOU HAVE HAD TRAINING AND REFRESHERS IN THE FOLLOWING 
AREAS 

Induction                                                                                                            
……………………………………………………………………………………….
   
Moving and Handling in the last 2 years                                                           
……………………………………………………………………………………….

Medication                                                                                                        
……………………………………………………………………………………….

Health and Safety                                                                                            
………………………………………………………………………………………..

NVQ2/3 in Health & Social Care (please specify)                                                                                                             
…………………………………………………………………………………………

Safeguarding Adults including Children’s
………………………………………………………………………………………….

MCA/DoLS                                                                                                           
…………………………………………………………………………………………

First Aid                                                                                                           
…………………………………………………………………………………………..

 Food Hygiene 

…………………………………………………………………………………….    

Any other training you have had    

i.e. Dementia, Dignity in Care, Challenging Behaviour, Mental Health, Drug and 
Alcohol, Autism, Asperger’s 

Page 36



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 1

Appendix 2: Service User Questionnaire

Rochdale Adult Care Service Users Questionnaire 2018 - 2019

As part of our contract review process we are keen to engage with as many family 
members and stakeholders in relation to services for adults 

PLEASE NOTE: If you do have any concerns regarding your family member or any other 
vulnerable adult you can contact the following agencies and speak to them in confidence. 
This questionnaire can be completed anonymously if you wish but if you would like us to act 
on any information that you provide we will need to know how to contact you. 
If you don’t want to answer a question, or it is not applicable, then move on to the next 
question. 

 Rochdale Adult Care Services Vulnerable Adults and Learning Disabilities on 0300 
303 8886

 Mental Health Team on 01706 676600

 Care Quality Commission (CQC) on 03000 616161

Are you male or female?

Please tick () one box

Male
Female
Prefer not to say

How old are you? ________________ (year’s)

To which of these groups do you consider you belong?  
Please tick () one box

White British 
White Other
Asian
Black
Mixed

Page 37



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 2

Other Ethnic Group 

SERVICE USER QUESTIONNAIRE ALL SERVICES

Name of Provider: ……………………………………………………………………………

Address where service is received: ………………………………………………………

Your name: (optional)………………………………………………………………

We are providing you with an envelope to put your completed questionnaire in. This 
can be sent to us in the following ways;
 Post the sealed envelope to us at Rochdale MBC offices at Number 1 

Riverside (address on envelope)
 Hand deliver the sealed envelope to reception at Rochdale MBC offices 

Number 1 Riverside (address on envelope)
 Give the sealed envelope to the support service provider and RMBC will 

collect the box of envelopes from the provider.

Why are we asking for your help?
We want to find out if you are happy with the support you get. You do not have to 
answer all of the questions; if you don’t want to answer a question, or it is not 
applicable, then move on to the next question. 

Please use the boxes to add any comments 
.

1. Do you feel the service is well-managed and do you know the managers 
name?

Yes 

No

Page 38



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 3

2. Do staff help you to feel safe?
By feeling safe we mean feeling safe both at home and outside. This could be 
things like:

a. fear of abuse or being hurt,
b. fear of having an accident 

Yes 

No

3. Do you get support when you most need it? I.e. toileting, assistance to wash 
and dress, bathe, eat?

Yes 

No

4. Do staff help you to keep clean, i.e. clean clothes, bathing, hair, nails?

Yes 

No

Page 39



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 4

5. What do you get to eat and drink, i.e. do you get all the food and drink you 
like?

Yes 

No

6. Do you feel you are treated with courtesy and respect by all staff? 

Yes 

No

7. Do you feel you are listened to and involved in the planning of your support? 

Yes 

No

8. How do you spend your time, i.e. activities, watching TV, listening to music?

Yes 

No

Page 40



QA Document Devised 25.1.18 Page 5

9. Do staff/management respond to any concerns you raise?

Yes 

No

10.Do you know how to make a complaint?

Yes 

No

Any other information: 

Page 41



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Subject: Link4Life Annual Performance Review 
2017-18

Status: For Publication

Report to: Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Portfolio: Cllr Janet Emsley Neighbourhoods, 
Community and Culture 

Date: 27th June 2018
 

Report of: Andy King, Chief Executive, Link4Life
Author Email: nathan.matley@link4life.org

Author:        Nathan Matley  
Tel:              01706 926601  

  
Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes    
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: 

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members of the Committee with information relating to the 
performance of the Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, trading as Link4Life at the 
end of the financial year 2017-2018.

2 Recommendations

2.1      It is recommended that Members note the content of this report.

3 Background

3.1 The Council's Sport, Leisure and Cultural Services transferred to the 
Rochdale Borough wide Cultural Trust (trading as Link4Life) on the 1st April 2007 
under the terms of a Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust. This 
Agreement spans 15 years (2007 – 2022) with the option to extend for a further 5 
years.

3.2 Link4Life Vision - Link4Life developed a new Corporate Strategy for 2016 
– 19 designed as a two page, outward facing public document that articulates the 
Trust’s strategic vision, key aims and business objectives over the next three years.

3.3 Supplementary to this new strategy was a revised 3 year Corporate Business 
Plan which is primarily an internal document providing further detail in terms of the 
actions and measures designed to address identified challenges and opportunities as 
well as delivering the Trust’s vision, aims and objectives.

Page 42

Agenda Item 9



3.4 To underpin what the Trust does, Members are also advised that the 
Link4Life Board has approved a refreshed set of Core Values, which outline how the 
Trust will operate. These are outlined below:-

We have PRIDE in where we work and what we do:-
Passion, Respect, Integrity, Drive, Excellence

3.5 Those indicators which are measured “per 1,000 population are calculated 
using the 2011 Census figure for the Borough’s population of 212,000”. 

3.6 Detailed information in respect of the full range of performance indicators can 
be found in Appendix 1.

Alternatives considered

3.7 There is the alternative of reporting performance to only the lead officers and 
the Portfolio Holder. Reporting to the Scrutiny Committee provides additional 
assurance that it receives value for money in respect of the Contract Fee being paid 
to the Trust for the delivery of services and that those services contribute to the 
achievement of the Council’s corporate aims and objectives.  

3.8 If Link4Life were not to report on performance, it would contravene its 
obligations under Schedule 11 of the Partnership Agreement (‘Governance and 
Monitoring’ arrangements), which requires the Trust to attend Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and present performance reports “in accordance with the 
Council’s corporate performance management framework as varied from time to 
time”.

4 Revised Performance Framework 

4.1 Since the inception of Link4Life in 2007, the development of its performance 
management framework has been subject to consultation with the council and 
agreement by the Council. The Council and Link4Life completed a joint review of the 
performance indicators and implemented a revised set of indicators for 2017-18 
including an annual corporate health check as well as KPI’s. 

4.2 In 2016-17, the management of the client/contractor relationship between 
Rochdale Borough Council and Link4Life transferred from Finance to Public Health 
(Andrea Fallon). Gordon Ridehalgh continues in the role of Client Officer. Quarterly 
meetings are held to review performance by lead Officers and further updates are 
also provided to the Portfolio Holder. This arrangement has continued in 2017-18.

4.3 The current partnership framework is currently under review. External 
consultants have provided an initial scoping report with a view to revising the current 
framework and also with the goal of developing an outcome based performance 
framework which is more aligned of the overall objectives of the Council and its vision 
for the residents of the borough.

Page 43



5 Service Updates

5.1 Sport, Leisure & Civic Venues

5.1.1 The Sport and Leisure team have undergone an internal restructure with a 
new Duty Management Team Structure and Fitness Team Structure in place from 1 
April 2018. A new General Manager and 3 Deputy General Managers have also been 
appointed. The new structure was developed to improve operational management at 
the Centre’s whilst providing financial efficiencies to contribute to the management 
fee reduction of £289,000 in 17-18.

5.1.2 At Middleton Arena a gym and indoor cycling studio refurbishment has been 
completed with members enjoying a range of new fitness and studio equipment.

Fitness team structures are being remodeled to include Personal Training (PT) 
provision by our in house staff and some external providers which should enhance 
the offer to our fitness members.

A recent benchmarking exercise by UK Active has revealed Link4Life to be 
performing above the national averages in relation to key membership performance 
indicators with both attrition (the rate members leave) and membership length, being 
better than the national average for the industry.

5.1.3 Hollingworth Lake Project

On April 1st 2018 the Council and Link4Life agreed that Link4Life would take on the 
management of Hollingworth Lake and the Countryside Park on an 18 month trial 
basis, with the expectation that investment and improvements can be brought into 
this area and for visitor numbers and the visitor experience to improve.

In preparation, Link4Life has committed £100k investment into the development of a 
retail offer, which includes the purchase of electric powered miniport boats and 
pedalos to complement the existing rowing boats, SUPs and paddleboards. Link4Life 
is also in the process of purchasing a new passenger boat and is awaiting final 
surveys on a replacement Lady Alice at the time or writing.

Conversations are ongoing in respect at looking at cross-sector working with the 
countryside rangers and NatureEd to complement and enhance our delivery 
especially with Health and Wellbeing in the outdoors.

]

Page 44

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwil6cSNw7zZAhXuT98KHWfeAmgQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/LocationPhotoDirectLink-g1435556-d6571473-i97758434-The_Mere-Ellesmere_Shropshire_England.html&psig=AOvVaw2fVlJxl6g7_Lof7yH815FA&ust=1519492040704555


A vision for the area is being developed around a Victoria theme with new signage 
and cosmetic improvements also planned. Further phases of activity and attraction 
developing are in the early stages of research. 

5.1.4 February Half Term Activities

Middleton Arena - 38 independent participants attended the play scheme with the 
majority of children attending from a M24 postcode. 63 individual participants overall 
attended the activities on offer at Middleton Arena with 8 children attending from the 
Oldham Borough. The Kids Cinema was a success with an overall attendance of 226 
and a profit of £253.00.  34 children from the play scheme also attended the Kids 
Cinema as part of the Holiday Club offer.  

Heywood Sports Village - HSV had 44 participants with 25 of those participants 
enrolled on the play scheme.

Rochdale Leisure Centre - Rochdale was the centre that didn’t trial the play scheme 
this time due to regular bookings taking place in the sports hall and around the 
centre.  As the Sports Zone sessions have been popular there in the past, we 
decided to build on this and extend them to 9am – 5pm and call them Sports Zone 
Extras.  The sessions were well attended with 32 attendances and 22 participants.  
The extended sessions also received positive feedback from parents who called the 
sessions ‘great value for money’.

Littleborough Sports Centre and Bowlee Sports Park - Each satellite site provided a 
great programme of activities for children over the February half term.  Littleborough 
had a multi sports day for 5-7 years which also featured an arts and craft session.  
The session had a fantastic uptake. Bowlee Park Sports Centre had an outstanding 
uptake throughout February half term with 100% of their 3 sessions being filled.  

 

5.2 Culture

5.2.1 GMCA Social Impact Fund – Link4Life has been pledged two years funding 
(£316k per year) from GMCA through its social impact fund. Funds will be distributed 
across GM through the Greater Manchester Arts Network to deliver cultural 
programmes in all 10 GM LA areas.  The funding is restricted to additional 
community cultural activities. In Rochdale, it is being used as match funding to 
secure additional investment for community, culture and heritage activities. To date 
Link4Life has secured an additional £60,000 for a borough wide community theatre 
project, £20,000 to fund a new community development post and £60,000 for a high 
profile community dance project working with 30 local women and girls from different 
backgrounds. It has also been co-invested in a new family festival programme as part 
of the Rochdale Feelgood Festival which has attracted £15,000 further investment 
from Arts Council England.

5.2.2 Dippy on Tour – Link4Life has received a first stage investment pledge of 
£90k from the Heritage Lottery Fund to develop the Dippy on Tour programme in 
partnership with Rochdale Borough Council. A stage 2 allocation of £200k is 
available if Link4Life and RBC meet the stage 2 requirements including development 
of an activity plan and achievement of the £300k match fundraising target. A 
fundraising specialist has been contracted and tenders for a major accompanying 
exhibition have been awarded. Two new posts are currently being recruited to 
support education and community engagement.

Page 45



5.2.3 A new Touchstones Manifesto outlining the impact and benefits the service 
aims to deliver through its programme and projects is now displayed in the main 
lobby of the museum for all to see. The six community impacts are: bringing people 
together; making people think; supporting the local economy; empowering local 
children; growing creativity and surprising (and delighting) local people.

5.2.4 Touchstone’s free February Family Fun day attracted over 300 children and 
families. The immersive event included live actors in period costume, green screen 
digital activities and participatory workshops themed around the iconic flour barrel in 
the collection. More recently, as part of BBC civilizations, the museum offered free 3d 
printing of items from the Egyptian collection for children to watch being made and 
take home. 

5.2.5 The Museum Service has secured £40,000 from HLF to fund a heritage based 
youth programme in partnership with Rochdale Youth Service.

5.2.6 Link4Life’s continuing partnership with the Royal Exchange Theatre recently led 
to a performance of ‘Dreams Buried Deep’ a newly commissioned play developed 
with young people about living and growing up in Rochdale. The young performers 
worked alongside RET’s Young Company who also performed ‘Mix Tape’ to an 
invited audience. 

5.2.7 Using funding secured from the Art Fund’s New Collecting Awards scheme, 
Touchstones recently acquired work for the Borough collections from Jessica Rankin 
and Clare Kenny.
 

5.3 Health and Well Being

We completed 3 FRESH programmes at Holy Family, Cross Gates & St Mary’s 
schools. 

We supported Women Making Changes group (RBUF) with advice on nutrition, 
weight management & health.

Link4Life delivered 2 x 4 week nutrition courses at Brownhill Pupil Learning Centre 
with years 8 to 10 pupils who have a range of learning & behavioral issues and we 
also now offer family cooking sessions at Brownhill.

Introduced an email subscription for L4L staff to receive weekly nutrition advice and 
assisted in a Fitbit pilot programme with weigh in & nutrition advice.

Supported FRESH Fest at Heywood Sports Village – an interactive nutrition sessions 
to 43 pupils from 4 schools alongside sports coaches targeting inactive children.

The Exercise Referral redesign is progressing with new self-efficacy questions 
agreed, standard questionnaires for Refer All system agreed & discussions ongoing 
with cardiac rehab team around fast –tracking into activity. 

CCG funding bids in 2018-19 for Functional Fitness, Complex conditions & COPD 
sessions has disappointingly not been accepted and these important schemes are 
now at risk. Link4Life are reviewing options for the delivery of the sessions previously 
provided through CCG funding.

Link4Life are currently working with 11 patients with complex Long Term Conditions 
on a one to one basis with 56 participants now in small group sessions.

Page 46



5.4 Sport and Physical Activity

5.4.1 Activ8teme 4th Birthday was held which was a huge success. 240 people 
attended and positive feedback was received from everyone. £272 was raised at the 
event for Springhill Hospice.

5.4.2 Feedback received – Below are some comments we have received in relation 
to a variety of programmes Link4Life have delivered:

Active8teme
‘For 12 years, my only exercise was long walks with my dogs, but sadly my life was 
turned upside down when I lost my 10 year old basset hound Kimber to cancer in 
2016 and my 12 year old golden retriever Max to old age just four and a half months 
later.  The only thing that saved my going mad was my little boy who keeps me busy 
to say the least, but he started school last September and I needed to keep busy 
while trying to keep the weight off, and so started your classes and also swimming on 
my days off work.’

‘I was new to Zumba, and came along with two left feet and no co-ordination, but you 
and all the other lovely ladies were so supportive, always smiling and great fun to be 
around.’

‘I wanted to say a massive thank you, the Zumba class is very hard, but you have 
given me the confidence to keep going, as I am sure I will pick up some of the moves 
over time!  Without you, I would have lasted 5 minutes and been put off for life’

‘I have also been going to an Aqua class on a Thursday morning, which I love and 
get to do a few lengths before it starts and also enjoy the Jacuzzi, steam room and 
sauna whilst in my costume. My son has also taken part in lots of courses, including 
Let's Create, Mini Dance, Mini Active and Mini Soccer, so all is good.’

Disability Provision
‘I think that my son has really benefited from the residential from a social point of 
view as he got to make new friends and join in activities with them that in some 
places may not have been available to him and he has been able to be a part of the 
team and join in.  He really enjoyed the Residential especially the Zip wire as this is 
something he loves!!! It was also great to try different things that aren't always 
accessible to him such as Indoor caving.’

6 Improving Performance – The following section highlights areas of where the 
targets for 2017-18 have been met or surpassed

6.1       Sport, Leisure and Civic Venues

6.1.1 The Link4Life Swim Academy had shown further growth this financial year as 
the demand for lessons continues to increase. This growth has been substantial and 
sustained following the transition to a continuous lesson based programme (from a 
block programme) and the use of hand held devices and a parent’s home portal to 
provide live monitoring of their child’s progress. The only limiting factor from further 
growth in 2018-19 is the availability of pool space and the centre management teams 
are conducting pool programme reviews to establish further pool time for lessons. At 
the end of March 2018 the lessons programme was running at 92.8% capacity.

Page 47



Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Total number of juniors 

enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim 
Academy swimming lessons

2917 2900 3290 

6.1.2 Fitness memberships have been under increasing pressure from external 
budget gyms over the last few years and they continue to place pressure on our 
business. However 2017-18 has been a very positive year for Link4Life with regards 
to Fitness Memberships with all three fitness related indicators achieving great 
results. 

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Total Number of Fitness 

Members 8928 8800 9211 

Fitness membership levels have grown in 2017-18. This has been assisted by a 
simplified membership structure and the inclusion of a range of additional member 
benefits, such as free use of the thermal suite at Rochdale Leisure Centre, 
discounted golf fees, and free body composition tests. Added to this is the huge 
range of fitness classes across all fitness centre which overall provides and very 
popular and competitive package. 

6.1.3 Link4Life place customer retention as a high priority. The current level of 
attrition (the rate at which customers leave) of our fitness members is 4.1% and this 
places favorably compared with the National average of 6.5%. A key component of 
achieving this score is to encourage customers to have a regular and engaging 
exercise programme and this score has no doubt been supported by the high 
percentage of members who have a regular exercise regime at our centres. The 
indicator below shows that just over 80% of our members have exercised in the last 
three months, which has also grown since last year.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
% of Fitness members visiting in last 

three months 75.58% 70% 80.12% 

6.1.4 The ‘YourLink4Life’ Extra card replaced the previous Passport to Leisure (PTL) 
scheme three years ago. The use of this card is to assist  Rochdale Borough 
residents who are eligible under one of the following categories: aged 16-19 and in 
full-time education or training; Over 60’s; Receiving Universal Credit or other means 
tested benefits including, Disability, Long-Term Illness or War Disabled, Receiving 
Carers Allowance including Fostering or Adoption.

The table below shows the performance targets for the YourLink4Life card 
membership scheme. Both targets have been met and growth has occurred within 
these indicators this year. Visits by Extra card members increased by 40.6% this 
financial year.

Page 48



Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

Extra Card Members 4195 3800 4210 
Visits - YourLink4Life 

Extra 165689 160000 232976 

6.1.5 Link4Life has invested resource into expanding the school holiday activity 
programme across all our centre’s, with programme’s now taking place not only in 
the main summer holidays but also during the shorter half term breaks. We have also 
introduced a full day programme as an option which has been very popular. All the 
school holiday programmes are delivered via the popular Go4It branding and has 
seen attendances grow by 44%.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
School Holiday Programme 

Attendance 10951 11000 15765 

Link4Life have also introduced a number of regular toddler sessions across the 
centres with Buggy Fit available at Middleton Arena and Toddler Time at 
Littleborough Sports Centre.

6.1.6 The Active Lives survey asks about healthy lifestyles and leisure, 
recreational, and cultural activities. It is conducted on behalf of government agencies 
including Sport England, Arts Council England and Public Health England by Ipsos 
MORI, an independent social research organisation and gives an overview of levels 
of physical activity across the UK. Whilst Link4Life cannot single handedly influence 
the score, they do have a significant role to play to encourage and facilitate the 
residents of Rochdale to be more active. 

The latest survey results are positive for the borough of Rochdale in that the trend is 
showing a reduction in the number of inactive people, from 34.49% to 32.38%. This is 
great result, but should also be shown alongside the Greater Manchester average of 
27.8%. Rochdale is still the second most inactive borough in GM (Wigan is the least 
inactive) and so more work across all organisations and stakeholders is still required 
to further reduce this figure.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Active Lives Survey Sport England  % 

of population who are classified as 
inactive  (<30mins per week)

34.49% To 
decrease 32.38% 

6.2 Culture

6.2.1 Link4Life has continued to see a sustained number of adults taking part in 
activities organised by the Arts and Heritage service. 2016-17 saw an inflated 
number due to a number of festivals held over the summer and a target in line with 
prior years was set. Link4Life achieved the target with 11,385 taking part in 
organised events and activities. With a new Head of Culture appointed Link4Life are 
looking to grow the number of events on offer and are developing an evening based 
events programme to support the regular annual programme.

Page 49



Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
The number of adults taking 

part in organised 
projects/activities

14655 10000 11385 

6.2.2 With an estimated 100,000 items in the Borough’s Arts and Heritage 
collection, the task of documenting and digitizing these is no mean feat. Throughout 
the year, the team at the Resource Centre document items. Investment in a 
Collections post and volunteer scheme has enabled them to more than achieve their 
target for 2017-18 and increase the number of items they have document this year to 
7796, 2214 more than the previous year.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

The number of items documented 5852 5500 7796 

6.2.3 Touchstones met the target of achieving the Visit England Quality Mark 
Achievement (Achieving an excellent 89% score). Recent improvements works to the 
bathroom facilities alongside the provision of excellent levels of customer service and 
knowledge helped maintain the award. The introduction of a new point of sale system 
in the tourist information shop in 2018-19 should further enhance their achievement 
of the quality mark.
 

6.2.4 It is also encouraging to note that some of the service improvements made at 
Touchstones and across the Arts and Heritage service have been well received by 
customers and service users. Customer survey results have shown an increase in 
2017-18 from 82% to 87% of customers rating the level of satisfaction as Good or 
Excellent. This also represents a significant improvement from the 71% achieved in 
2016-17.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Customer survey result – satisfaction 
rating (Customer rating the level of 
satisfaction as Good or Excellent)

82% 80% 87% 

Visit England Quality Mark Achievement Achieved To 
Achieve Achieved 

6.2.5 Volunteering remains a vital and much appreciated element of the offer at 
Touchstone, giving community members an ideal platform to help with the Arts and 
Heritage services work and projects. The number of volunteers and new volunteers 
has exceeded the target this year.

Page 50



Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
No of Active Volunteers in Culture 

Service 25 25 45 
No of New Volunteers 29 10 24 
No of Volunteer Hours 1695 2000 2387 

There were 2387 hours volunteered to the service, the equivalent of 1.2 FTE and a 
highly valued skilled addition to the existing resources within the service.

6.3 Health and Participation

6.3.1 The Health and Participation Team currently deliver over 20 programmes, 
many of them on an ‘outreach’ or community development basis of which most are 
largely dependent on external funding.

6.3.2 903 outreach sessions were delivered in 2016-17 and this was increased to 
1085 in 2017-18 well above the target agreed.  Attendance at these sessions has far 
exceeded expectations and the target of 10000 was easily surpassed with 19,685 
visits to the outreach sessions. This has been aided by the continuation of the 
Activ8te Me programme. Funding has ended for this scheme, but the scheme was so 
successful that most sessions delivered are now self-sustaining and thus have been 
continued into 2017-18 and have allowed for the delivery of health and activity 
sessions at venues away from the Leisure Centre’s. Venues such as community 
halls, sports clubs and social clubs are now hosting such sessions.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

Number of Outreach Sessions delivered 903 750 1085 
Attendance at Community Outreach 

sessions (focus on participation) 13688 10000 19685 

6.3.3 The Energy Club – our children’s healthy weight project has made further 
progress during 2017-18. The number of children who are attending or have attended 
in 2017-18 has increased by 22% following a 54% growth last year. The scheme 
combines activity and exercise with health and nutritional advice and although aimed 
at children also encourages parents to be involved in the nutritional and health advice 
side of the programme.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

Energy Club (Children’s Healthy Weight project)
Number of children aged 4 to 12 years 

engaged in programme 131 120 160 

6.3.4 2017-18 has seen another amazing year in the development of Link4Life’s 
programme of targeted health interventions and activities continues to expand and 

Page 51



develop. 1293 participants have taken part in the scheme and 1282 different 
sessions were delivered. The success of walking football is one such example of the 
increasing popularity of the sessions being delivered which is continuing to grow, and 
with support from Link4Life has seen the development of a Greater Manchester 
walking football league.

The attendance at the sessions in 2017-18 was 11,308

Indicator - Participation in health 
development activities 2016-17 Target 2017-18

(Targeted at health conditions e.g. Stroke, LTC's, and Falls etc.)
Unique Users (Participants) on health 

development activities sessions 1220 1000 1293 
No. of activity sessions delivered 1018 750 1282 

Attendance (Usage) on Health Development 
Activities sessions New New 11308

6.3.5 Link4Life offers a wide range of accessible activities for children and adults with 
both physical and mental disabilities. Programmes are tailored to suit the needs of 
young people and adults offering exciting and enjoyable environments with the 
opportunity to participate develop and progress. 

During 2017-18, 346 children and 1183 adult participants had taken part in the 
programmes. This was an increase of 10.8% and 37.9% respectively.

Indicator - Disability Sports Activities 2016-17 Target 2017-18
No. of participants in disability sports activities 

- children 349 300 346 
No. of participants in disability sports activities   

- adults 1044 750 1183 

6.3.6 It was agreed that Link4Life would provide case studies or detailed 
information on specific services areas each reporting period. Appendix Two, 
contains and overview of the current work Link4Life are undertaking in the area of 
Volunteering and the delivery of the Skills4Sport programme.

6.4 Corporate Health and Compliance

6.4.1 Link4Life has seen the number of service complaints that were upheld 
continue to reduce from 52% in 2015-16, 35% in 2016-17 to 32.7% in 2017-18. This 
is encouraging and a good indication of satisfaction from customers. However, we 
are receiving fewer and fewer formal written complaints as we have seen a surge in 
the number of comments and complaints made online on our Facebook site and via 
Google reviews. Future consideration will be given to the use of social networks in 
the inclusion of feedback and complaint analysis.

Page 52



Indicator – Corporate 
Compliance 2016-17 Target 2017-18

Complaints upheld 35.02% 45.00% 32.38% 
Annual Health Check n/a To Complete Completed 

6.4.2 During 2017-18 Link4Life also continually update what was introduced in 
2016-17 as an annual health check. This is an ongoing process whereby Link4Life 
and RBC work together to ensure that the health and governance of Link4Life is 
maintained at high levels. This has been successfully completed for 2017-18. To give 
members an understanding of items that are assessed in the health check, the list 
below outlines some of the areas covered:

 Provide copy of Safety policy(s) to RBC
 Ensure DBS checks/Risk Analysis performed in respect of staff & members 

dealing with Children and Vulnerable Adults
 Maintain Live Inventories of Assets at each site
 Submit the Annual Company Report and Accounts Report to the Council
 Compliance with Data Protection Act including Registration with the ICO
 Review and Agree Service User Charges
 Review of Buildings - Works Programme
 AGMA Projects and Voluntary Sector Grants - produce report as to outcomes

6.5 Financial – Value For Money

6.5.1 The Sport, Leisure and Civic venues maintained their financial performance in 
2017-18. The net cost per person (visit) has been maintained at to £0.11 in 2017-18, 
the same figure as 2016-17 and has exceeded the target of £0.19. With a long term 
desire for the service within Link4Life to be subsidy free, this again is an encouraging 
pattern and bodes well for future years.

This figure and the desire to be subsidy (management fee) free, should however be 
taken into consideration with the financial benefit provided by the Link4Life Extra card 
to residents in the borough. The average financial benefit each card holder received 
in discounted leisure activities is £81.55 per person.

The total subsidy/discount provided by Link4Life to Extra card holders amounts to         
£343,338.49.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Sport, Leisure & Civic venues - net cost 

per person (visit) £0.11 £0.19 £0.11 
Subsidy per Extra Card Holder £80.55 £80.00 £81.55 

6.5.2 Link4Life has increased increase the amount of external funding generated as 
percentage of the management fee from 37.98% to 56.89%, which is a combination 
in a reduction in the management fee received from Rochdale Council in 2017-18 
and an increase in external funding received.

Page 53



6.5.3 Link4Life has also achieved the target of reducing the percentage of the 
management fee over total income from 31.3% to 29.72%. The management fee 
Link4Life receives to manage the Leisure, Health and Cultural services now accounts 
for 29.72% of revenue, the rest being self-generated by the Cultural Trust and from 
external funding.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Total External Funding (restricted) as a 

% of management fee 37.98% 39% 56.89% 
% of management fee income over total 

revenue 31.30% 30.60% 29.72% 

Nb. These indicators are based on unaudited 2017/18 outturn figures.

7         Under Performance

7.1 The following section highlights areas of performance where the 2017-18 
targets were not met and are greater than 5% from the set targets. The explanations 
for this are provided along with actions to improve the performance over the next 
year.

7.2 Sport and Leisure

7.2.1 The number of swims recorded at Link4Life pools dropped by 4.4% in 2017-
18 which whilst disappointing wasn’t unexpected. In order to facilitate the increase in 
the Link4Life Swim Academy, extra pool space has been taken, reducing the 
capacity for swimming for some sessions and generally across the UK swimming has 
seen a decline in this period as highlighted in the Sport England Active Lives survey 
which reported a 5.8% decrease nationally. So against the national trend, Rochdale 
has seen a decrease lower than the national average which is positive.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

Total Number of Swims 207322 210000 198156 

7.2.2 The achievement of pupils attending KS2 Swimming has fallen slightly over the 
last academic year. As with other similar demographic areas the number of children 
achieving KS2 remains less than 50%. The overall national average remains at 
around 50% of primary school children not able to swim to standard. This equates to 
around 1 million children nationally. Every effort is being made to improve the 
performance in this area. Additional teacher training has been introduced, lesson 
programmes have been revamped and lessons have been changed from 30 mins to 
one hour. Obviously, the level of pupils swimming ability when they start their course 
of training is not in Link4Life’s control, however, it is hoped that the increase in 
numbers on the Link4Life Swim Academy programme (public swimming lessons) will 
feed through to school swimming as more pupils enter the programme with some 
previous experience of swimming.

Page 54



Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
The % of children achieving Key Stage 2 

(swim 25m) 43.24% 46.50% 35.00% 

The above indicator does not give a measure of the progress pupils make as many 
pupils commence the school swimming programme at differing levels. At the last 
meeting Members asked for this progress to be reported on and monitored. Currently 
Link4Life are working with a software provider to test new software which may 
provide Link4Life with the ability to do this. The current paper based system in place 
does not provide the opportunity to provide this information at the level of detail 
required.

7.2.3 The percentage of card holders who resided in the 10% most deprived Lower 
Super Output Areas (LSOA) in the borough has reduced slightly. This has been 
attributed to the fact that Link4Life as part of the fitness review removed off peak 
pricing. This has meant that a number of over 60’s who were previously restricted to 
off peak (for pricing reasons) can now have full unlimited access. As a result we have 
seen a rise in the number of extra cards issues to over 60’s, of which a large number 
do not reside in a deprived SOA. (Please note: the other eligibility criteria for extra 
card membership are means tested via economic factors rather than age.)

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Percentage of Extra cardholders from 

areas  10% >SOA areas 28.08% 29.00% 26.79% 

7.3 Culture

7.3.1 The number of visitors to Touchstones has fallen since 2015-16 and this trend 
has continued in 2017-18. This is representative of an overall decline in visits to 
Museums across the UK as report by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
who revealed that there was a 1.4million drop in visits annually which included a 
significant drop in the number of young people visiting these museums for 
educational purposes. 

The team is taking a pro-active approach to building engagement. The introduction of 
the café has proved popular with local people and recent investment in marketing 
aims to attract more local visitors. A new learning and participation post is building 
new community partnerships which is already resulting in increased numbers of 
people participating in projects and activities rather than simply ‘visiting’ an exhibition.   

More longer term, detailed plans are in place to ensure that Touchstones is a key 
element of the offer when Dippy is resident in Number One Riverside which will 
attract many new visitors to the Museum (over 200,000 visits were reported in Dorset 
in two months).

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18

No of visitors to Touchstones Rochdale 46,341 50000 40044 

Page 55



7.3.2 As reported in 7.3.1, visitor numbers in general across the UK are falling and 
in particular the number of visits for education purposes. A 32.9% drop was recorded 
in 2017-18 in the number of pupils visiting Touchstones. This is largely due to the fact 
that a review and restructure took place during the period and as such, a reduced 
programme was offered. The new programme, developed with schools and 
education specialists will be launched for Sep 2019. Early indications are that school 
attendance is already increasing (78% of monthly target on average April – July). We 
are confident that this will increase further following the launch of the expanded 
programme.

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
The number of pupils visiting 

Touchstones Rochdale 6665 7000 4475 
The number of school children using the 
service outside of Touchstones Rochdale 9278 10000 3113 

Last year Link4Life have implemented a focused strategic plan to target reducing this 
decline and commissioned Curious Minds, the North West Specialist Cultural 
Education advisory body, funded by Arts Council England, to undertake an external 
review of our programme to facilitate us to better engage with schools and also in 
order to make recommendations given the significant changes to school curriculum, 
governance and funding models. 

We are now nearing the end of a 12 month period of transformation in line with the 
recommendations. The focus will be to co-design with schools, increase the depth of 
engagement and explore a ‘place’ based cultural curriculum to complement the 
national curriculum.

7.4 Corporate Health and Compliance

7.4.1 There was one indicator that didn’t meet the target set; this was the average 
number of days lost to sickness (see below).

Indicator 2016-17 Target 2017-18
Average number of days lost due to 

sickness absence 7.48 7 7.77 

At various periods within the year, Link4Life were on track to meet the target, a goal 
of reducing sickness to an average of 7 days per annum per staff member. 
Unfortunately a poor quarter 1 and 4 and a number of long term sicknesses affected 
this figure and we fell short of the target. That said at no time did staff sickness lead 
to any facility closures or service reductions.

Link4Life have a robust sickness monitoring process in place using the Bradford 
factor. Each member of staff’s sickness record is taken into account when conducting 
personal development reviews. Link4Life will continue to proactively manage 
absence through measuring, monitoring and intervention – with a long term goal of a 
decrease in absences.

Page 56



7.5 Financial Value For Money

7.5.1 The reduction in visits to Touchstones (see 7.3.1) has directly led to the net 
cost per person increasing in this financial year. The changes being implemented 
across the service to address this will facilitate an improvement in this figure next 
year. The figure was not attributable to over expenditure.

It is also difficult to accurately record usage due to the open nature of Touchstones 
and a lack of turnstiles and control methods. It is currently manually counted however 
Link4Life are investigating ways of using new technology to more accurately track 
usage within Touchstones.

The Arts and Heritage service also has many ‘touch points’ with customers outside of 
Touchstones, and whilst a large majority are measured, some usage of the service is 
not always included in this indicator, for example customers who may view the 
collection online via our website or who contact us via email to request access or 
information on the collection.

A key area of value is also derived from the cultural leadership provided by the 
service on behalf of Rochdale Borough Council and the residents of the Borough. 
This includes:
• Sector support – Leading Rochdale Borough Culture Network and providing 
advice and grants for artists, community groups and Arts Organisations
• Championing Rochdale – Representing the Borough at GM with Arts Council 
England, Heritage Lottery Fund and other stakeholders
• Developing Opportunities – Including development of a recent application for 
£3.9m to DCMS on behalf of the Borough  

It is also worth noting that cultural activities are achieving significant growth in terms 
of attracting external investment into the Borough. In 2017/2018 over £480k has 
been secured/pledged from Lottery and charitable Trusts and Foundations to support 
projects which provide increased access, quality and breadth of creative 
opportunities for Rochdale communities.

2016-17 Target 2017-18
Arts and Heritage - net cost per 

person (visit) £10.70 £11.00 £12.23 

8 Summary of Performance

8.1 At of the end of 2017-18 of the 60 indicators with targets set, Link4Life 
achieved 72.73% of these. 7.27% were within 5% or less of the target.  This was an 
improvement on last year where 62.23% where met.

8.2 20.00% (11 indicators) fell short of the targets set at year end. 

8.3 It should be noted that efficiencies measures and overall reductions in the 
levels of funding available along with increased competition within the fitness market 
are putting increases pressure on financial performance which is reflected within the 
financial performance indicators.

Page 57



8.4 5 indicators of the 60 were not measured against a target, some due to being 
new indicators and other as a result of operational difficulties obtaining the 
information during 2017-18 which the performance monitoring officer is fully aware of.

8.5 A summary of the overall performance can be seen in the table below.

Link4Life 2017-18 Performance Summary

On Target Within 5% 95% or below

  
Corporate Health and 

Compliance 3 0 1

Financial 4 0 1

Sport and Leisure 7 2 4

Culture 8 0 4

Health and Participation 18 2 1

40 4 11

Link4Life 72.73% 7.27% 20.00%

8.6 The 18-19 indicators have been agreed between Link4Life and RBC, 
however, as raised in 4.3, both Link4Life and Rochdale Council are working 
towards a new partnership framework of which the goal is to develop a 
revised outcome and evidence based reporting mechanism.

9 Financial Implications

9.1 The Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust includes a 
Payment Mechanism with a formula, which provides for deductions from the agreed 
Contract Fee in the event of non-performance by the Trust. The Payment Mechanism 
calculations are undertaken once year-end accounts are finalised.

10 Legal Implications

10.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

11 Personnel Implications

11.1 There are no personnel implications for the Council arising from this report.

12 Risk Assessment Implications 

Page 58



12.1 There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this 
report.

13 Equalities Impacts

13.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

13.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no equality/community issues arising from this report. Link4Life is 
committed to working in accordance with Rochdale Council’s Equality and Diversity 
Policy and believes that the services it delivers have a positive impact in addressing 
health inequalities and promoting the health and wellbeing of people who live, work 
and visit the borough

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
2017/18’ file

Link4Life Head Office, Floor 3, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale 
OL16 1ZZ

 

Page 59



16-17 Target 17-18 Tracker Direction

COPORATE HEALTH AND COMPLIANCE

CHC1 The percentage of complaints upheld 35.02% 45.00% 32.38% J i

CHC2 Average number of days lost due to sickness absence 7.48 7 7.77 L i

CHC3 Percentage of staff recommending Link4Life as a place to work 68.30% 70.00% 70.23% J h

CHC4 Completion of Annual Health Check Completed To Complete Y J n

FINANCIAL -VALUE FOR MONEY (ANNUAL INDICATORS)

FIN1 Sport, Leisure & Civic venues - net cost per person (visit) £0.11 £0.19 £0.11 J n

FIN2 Arts and Heritage - net cost per person (visit) (revised formula - included activities outside Touchstones) £10.70 £11.00 £12.23 L i

FIN4 Total External Funding (restricted) as a % of management fee 37.98% 39% 56.89% J h

FIN5 % of management fee income over total revenue 31.30% 30.60% 29.72% J i

FIN6 Subsidy per Extra Card Holder £80.55 £80.00 £81.55 J h

SPORT, LEISURE, ENTERTAINMENT

SAL1 Total number of visits to Sport, Leisure and Entertainment Venues 1972900 2000000 1952202 K i

SAL2 Total number of juniors enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim Academy swimming lessons 2917 2900 3290 J h

SAL3 Total Number of Swims 207322 210000 198156 L i

SAL4 The % of children achieving Key Stage 2 (swim 25m) 43.24% 46.50% 35.00% L i

SAL7 Total Number of Fitness Members 8928 8800 9211 J h

SAL8 % of Fitness members visiting in last three months 75.58% 70% 80.12% J h

SAL9 Rate of fitness membership attrition 2.26% 4.00% 4.05% K h

SAL11 YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders 4195 3800 4210 J h

SAL12 Percentage of Extra cardholders from areas  10% >SOA areas 28.08% 29% 26.79% L i

SAL18 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) 86.17% 80% n/a

SAL19 Customer Satisfaction - net promoter score 31.00% 35% n/a

SAL20 Active Lives Survey Sport England  % of population who are classified as inactive  (<30mins per week) 34.49% Decrease 32.38% J i

SAL22 Visits - YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders 165689 160000 232976 J h

SAL26 Health Campaigns delivered in the Fitness Centre's 3 4 3 L n

SAL27 School Holiday Programme Attendance 10951 11000 15765 J h

CULTURE

AAH1 No of visitors to Touchstones Rochdale 46,341 50000 40044 L i

AAH4 The number of pupils visiting Touchstones Rochdale 6665 7000 4475 L i

AAH5 The number of school children using the service outside of Touchstones Rochdale 9278 10000 3113 L i

AAH6 The number of children/young people (aged 0 - 25) engaged in organised projects or activities outside formal education 5056 5000 4110 L i

AAH7 The number of adults taking part in organised projects/activities 14,655 10000 11385 J i

AAH8 The number of items documented 5852 5500 7796 J h

AAH9 Net Promoter Score 69% 20% n/a

AAH11 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) 82% 80% 87% J h

AAH12 Visit England Quality Mark Achievement Achieved To Achieve Achieved J n

AAH13 No of Active Volunteers in Culture Service 25 25 45 J h

AAH14 No of New Volunteers 29 10 24 J i

AAH15 No of Volunteer Hours 1694.85 2000 2387 J h

AAH16 Number of schools using the actively engaging with the service 92 80 90 J i

HEALTH AND PARTICIPATION

SPA1 Number of Outreach Sessions delivered 903 750 1085 J h

SPA2 Attendance (Usage)  at Community Outreach sessions (focus on participation) 13688 10000 19685 J h

SPA3 Number of active volunteers 39 41 43 J h

SPA4 Number of active volunteers hours achieved NEW 3500 3495 K

SPA5 Unique Users (Participants) on Community Outreach Sessions NEW New 3431

Healthy Workforce Scheme (RBC)

HWS1 Number of Health MOTs completed 543 500 490 K i

HWS2 Number referred to GP or other health professional following health MOT 92 90 166 J h

HWS3 Number of participants  in sports activities 604 500 532 J i

HWS4 Numbers attending well-being advice sessions 556 450 360 L i

Energy Club (Children’s Healthy Weight project)

EC1 Number of children aged 4 to 12 years engaged in programme 131 120 160 J h

Participation in health development activities (targeted at health conditions e.g. Stroke, LTC's, Falls etc)

ACT1 Unique Users (Participants) on health development actvities sessions 1220 1000 1293 J h

ACT2 No. of activity sessions delivered 1018 750 1282 J h

ACT3 Attendance (Usage) on Health Development Actvities sessions NEW NEW 11308

Healthy Workforce

HWLB1 Number of new businesses contacted 23 14 17 J i

HWLB2 Number of health related activities delivered by Link4Life in workforce settings 17 20 23 J h

APPENDIX ONE: LINK4LIFE 2017-18 PERFORMANCE MONITORING

Page 60



16-17 Target 17-18 Tracker Direction

HWLB3 Business signposted to other health agencies for health interventions 20 20 21 J h

Disability Sports Activities

DSA1 No. of participants in disability sports activities - children 349 300 348 J i

DSA2 No. of participants in disability sports activities   - adults 1044 750 1183 J h

DSA6 Number of Talent ID events held (Schools) 13 12 13 J n

DSA7 Number of School pupils attending talent id events 608 550 617 J h

DSA8 Number of young people joining a sports club 131 110 139 J h

WEMWBS (Measure of Wellbeing- appropriate projects only)

WEM1 % of completing participants achieving 10% increase in wellbeing score 95.50% 80% 86.75% J i

WEM2 % of completing participants setting wellbeing-related goal 94.75% 80% 82.50% J i

Page 61



Appendix Two: Link4Life Case Study/Service Update 

 
Skills4Sport and Volunteering Update 
  
Volunteering  
  
This area of work has blossomed over this last 18 months with regular quarterly 
Volunteer festivals/events held in various sites around Rochdale. 
  
Link4Life have now hosted 6 events and each event grows in stature and 
organisation from the last. 
  
Each event has around at least 20 to 30 Charity’s, Community groups, Voluntary 
organisations, Clubs and Societies, as well as a whole range of other organisations 
who work in the Borough with volunteers in attendance. 
  
It has established itself on the calendar, and is an event that all who attend value 
(organisations and the passing public) as it allows groups to network with each other 
on a regular basis, and also provides interested members of the public with 
information that allows them to make decisions about how best to volunteer in their 
local communities. 
  
It allows them to market who they are, what they do, where they operate from, what 
services they offer/provide and most importantly it enables groups to identify people 
who enquire at these events on how they can engage with them as volunteers, 
offering their time and their skillsets, to assist the groups to expand or continue to 
deliver the valuable services they provide in the Borough. 
  
The most recent event was our most ambitious venture yet as we held a big open air 
festival on June 1st on the Butts in Rochdale Town Centre, with the Fire service (who 
turned up with an Engine and a fully enclosed 5 a side kick pitch), The Fusiliers and 
the Police also attending (for the 1st time) alongside all the other 20 plus groups. 
  
This coincided with the last day of the school half term so loads of families were 
around, and also it was the 1st day of National Volunteers week, so we had great 
coverage on social media and locally with the Mayor attending and supporting this 
initiative that we have developed gradually over the last 18 months with these 
quarterly events. 
  
We also are running a Sports themed event on June 16th to coincide with the start of 
the Football World Cup where we are focusing on community volunteer sports clubs 
where once again we will have the 5 a side kick pitch open for use. 
  
Skills4sport (In partnership with RBC/Hopwood Hall NLDC (community) and 
Creative Sports and Leisure) 
  
This last 12 months has seen a growth in the number of courses we offer on this 
highly in demand pre-employment programme. 
  

Page 62



The funding protecting this delivery is predominantly from external grants 
  
Link4life has seen recruitment into its workforce of around 40 staff from these 
courses, with some really life-changing case studies in this number, where 
individuals would never have found work without our delivery of this valuable project 
over its lifetime. 
  
Other successful students (around 10) have moved to other areas of work with 
numerous other local employers in Health, Care, Retail and Warehousing to name 
just a few.  
  
If you go back to the calendar year from April 17 to June 18 we have run 10 courses 
with 120 students in total 
  
 
In this academic year (Sept 17 to July 18) Link4Life have: 

 

 Hosted 7 courses 
 

 2 of these were targeted at 14 and over and were opened to candidates in 
Work and in Education (to any upper age) a new element to the project. 

 

 5 of the established mainstream events have been run for 16+ candidates (to 
any upper age), Unemployed and not in Education  

 

 Delivered to 85 students 
 

 All taking 5 qualifications/certificates 
  

i. Principles of Coaching 
ii. Community Sports Leaders 
iii. Emergency 1st Aid 
iv. Coaching Disabled performers 
v. Safeguarding and Protecting Children 

 
All participants are completing extensive volunteering/work experience of at least 20 hrs 
each (so a total of 1700hrs volunteering/Work Experience provide via this project). 

 

For more information on the Skills4Sport Course or Volunteering with Link4Life please 
contact: 

Barry Woodburn - Volunteer, Training and Club Development Officer 

Telephone: 01706926211 

Email: barry.woodburn@link4life.org 

 

Page 63



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting MeetingDateLegal
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services, 
Cabinet Member for Adult 
Care, Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document

Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 4 
Performance Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 4 (1st January – 31st March 2018) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Adult Care Directorate 
Plan 2017-18, Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 and Public Health 
Directorate Plan 2017-18.  

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4
3.5
3.6

The committee previously approved the Directorate Plans for 2017-18 for the 
Adult Care Directorate, Children’s Services Directorate and Public Health 
Directorate.   In accordance with the Council’s performance management 
framework. Progress towards the targets contained in directorate plans are to 
be reported to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each 
quarter.

The Quarter 4 progress reports for the Adult Care Directorate, Children’s 
Services Directorate and Public Health Directorate are attached at Appendices 
1, 2 and 3. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria.
Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date 
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green: Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track
The appendices include a commentary against actions that are showing red, 

Page 64

Agenda Item 10



1

21

4
AMBER 4%

GREEN 81%

PURPLE 15%

amber, green or purple

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

 Adult Care Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview
81% (21) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 have now 
been completed.  The chart below shows the overall performance of the 
Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 4.

The four actions that are not fully complete but are within the action date 
(Purple) relate to:
 Work with commissioners to develop and implement a new Dementia 

offer
 Develop a stronger 24/7 Approved Mental Health Practitioner (AMHP) 

service which improves access, and assures quality and increases 
consistency of practice under the Mental health Act.

 Putting Integrated Discharge Teams in place across Pennine Acute 
Hospitals Sites

 Extending the  social care offer at A&E departments with partner 
organisations to reduce unnecessary admissions

The one action not fully completed (Amber) relates to:
 Review Greave house and Mental Health supported living schemes to 

support improved outcomes and independence for people with 
significant long term mental health needs

Performance Issues
Please refer to appendices in regards to incomplete actions. Narrative should 
highlight any revised completion dates

Adult Social Care Directorate Plan: 
Summary of performance against actions

Page 65



9

13

AMBER 41%

GREEN 59%

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Children’s Services  Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview
59% (13) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 have now been 
completed. The chart below shows the overall performance of the Directorate 
in meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 4. 

The nine actions that are not fully completed (Amber) relate to:
 Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years strategy - 

To have completed consultation and secured draft proposals for the 
introduction of a revised Schools Primary Strategy with effect from April 
2018

 Increase Safeguarding Unit oversight and challenge for our most 
vulnerable children.

 Embed the raising Participation Age Plan to improve the engagement 
and participation for 16-18 year olds and ensure the post 16 offer is 
accessible to all. 

 Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Facilitate a Peer 
Challenge from the Regional Improvement Team to measure progress 

 Establish a pre-birth assessment service 
 Deliver the Early Help Strategy - Public Health and Children’s Services 

to develop an action plan to address Childhood Obesity and Dental 
Health issues 

 Implement the Family Services Model which includes Single Point of 
Access, 4 Early Help Locality Teams &  Integrated ‘intermediate’ 
response

 Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Increase access to Local 
Offer across 0-25  (10 % increase on March 2017 base line)

 Improve the quality and menu of interventions offered to families who 
experience domestic violence and children experiencing neglect.

Performance Issues
Please refer to appendices in regards to incomplete actions. Narrative should 
highlight any revised completion dates

Children's Services Directorate Plan: 
Summary of performance against actions

Page 66



1

14

AMBER 7%

GREEN 93%

Public Health Directorate Plan: 
Summary of performance against actions

4.9 Public Health  & Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview
93% (14) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 have now been 
completed.  The chart below shows the overall performance of the Directorate 
in meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 4. 

The one action not fully completed (Amber) relates to:
 Develop a Borough wide Volunteering Strategy and action plan to 

increase the resilience of the voluntary sector, and set out proposals for 
a corporate approach to staff volunteering for RBC.

Performance Issues
Please refer to appendices in regards to incomplete actions. Narrative should 
highlight any revised completion dates

Alternatives Considered
None

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None

Risk and Policy Implications

6. Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under the 
Children Acts 1989 and 2004. They also have statutory duties under the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and the associated regulations, being the 
Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 in respect of eligible and relevant 
and former relevant children i.e. current and future cohorts of children who 

Page 67



have left or will leave the local authority’s care.

The nature of services provided to children and families involve managing 
significant levels of risk. High quality early intervention and social care 
services reduce the likelihood of children suffering harm and increase the 
likelihood of children developing into successful adults and achieving and 
succeeding.

The 2010 Equality Act (“The Act”) outlines the provisions of the Public Sector 
Equality
Duty which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of 
equality into day-to-day business and keep them under review in 
decision making, the design of policies and the delivery of services

The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality 
involves:

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics.

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups 
where these are different from the needs of other people.

 Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life 
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

The Act states that meeting different needs involves taking steps to take 
account of disabled people's disabilities. It describes fostering good relations 
as tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between people from 
different groups. It states that compliance with the duty may involve treating 
some people more favourably than others.

The equality duty covers the nine protected characteristics: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation.  Public authorities also need to have due regard to 
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination against someone because of 
their marriage or civil partnership status. This means that the first aim of the 
duty applies to this characteristic but that the other aims (advancing equality 
and fostering good relations) do not apply.

Equalities and Diversity considerations are a key element of the Council’s 
approach to safeguarding and work with care leavers.

Consultation

Page 68



7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Adult Care Directorate Plan 2017-
18

Children’s Services Directorate 
Plan 2017-18

Public Health Directorate Plan 
2017-18

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale OL16 1XU

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 69



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

   

 

AC17010 Review Greave house and Mental Health supported living 
schemes to support improved outcomes and independence for people 
with significant long term mental health needs  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for 
older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018.. 

 

The review was delayed due to prioritisation of the LCO work. This work is rescheduled and will take place in the first quarter of 2018/19 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17013  Work with commissioners to develop and implement a new 
Dementia offer  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved 
Mental Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments..... 

 

Whilst the draft dementia strategy has been developed. It has been difficult to progress this further due to lack of resources. Work has 
commenced with Nursing homes to develop a new offer for people with complex needs and dementia and the Springhill Dementia hub 
refurbishment has commenced on site.  

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17014 Develop a stronger 24/7 Approved Mental Health Practitioner 
(AMHP) service which improves access, and assures quality and 
increases consistency of practice under the Mental health Act.  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved 
Mental Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments... 
 
A new daytime AMHP service is being developed and workers have been appointed. The service will be fully operational by Sept 2018 following a transitional 
period form current arrangements. Options for out of hours AMHP services are being explored. 

 

 

 

 
11/04/18 

 

 

 

AC17015 Putting Integrated Discharge Teams in place across Pennine 
Acute Hospitals Sites 

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at 
home 91 days .. 

 

Work is to be finalized and great progress has been achieved- all to be in place by September 2018. Progress to date achieved as expected 28/03/18 
 

 

 

 

P
age 70



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

AC17018  Extending the  social care offer at A&E departments with 
partner organisations to reduce unnecessary admissions  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at 
home 91 days .. 

 

Work is ongoing to further develop A&E screening which social care will play a part of. This is currently being project managed under the CCG 
transformation team 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17021 Implementing the quality assurance framework for service 
delivery with clear standards of service met 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Nov 2017 Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures...  

1. QAF has been implemented. Case reviews are now taking place and a practice assurance module has been agreed at OMT and now 
shared with Karen Hurley. 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17022 Reviewing the safeguarding module of ALLIS  30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures...  

2. Safeguarding module on ALLIS has been reviewed and tested. Go live date is imminent. Organisational safeguarding still being worked on 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17023  Reviewing and simplifying unnecessary steps in assessment 
practice  

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Objective 4:..People in our borough have a good start and are able to live well, age well and die well....Objective 15:..Perception of Rochdale is 
changed.. 
 
Assessment process reviewed and streamlined    

 
 
 
 
11/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17024 Reviewing social work practice governance in the joint 
Mental Health service 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

Case auditing includes MH cases.  MOU sets out clear expectations for SW practice in joint MH teams   28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17025  Strengthening ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ with a data  30 November 2017   

P
age 71



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

set which can be used to evidence service user outcomes and system  
compliance 

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

ALLIS reports being run on safeguarding outcomes with quarterly reporting to SMT. Data is provided to RBSAB QAPI.  Safeguarding  case 
audits being undertaken bi-monthly to improve practice. 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17026   Implementing the carers strategy and work with the new 
service offer to maximise the number of carers supported. 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

Collaborative work ongoing with N Compass and strengthening the offer to carers. Carers can self-assess online and the care navigator teams 
are proactive in support. The number of carers supported by adult social care continues to increase 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17001  Develop new integrated arrangements with NHS provider 
colleagues  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

The integrated arrangements are underway and on track 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17002 Agree clear governance arrangements for the new provider 
partnership  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Clear governance arrangements are in place and document launch 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17003 Establish new Neighbourhood teams   31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Neighbourhood teams established in ASC and live from 12.3.18 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17004 Establish Adult Care is an active partner in the new local care 
organisation  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Adult care is an active partner on the new LCO- called ONE 28/03/18 

P
age 72



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

 

 

 

AC17005 Integrate Mental Health and Learning Disability Services into 
the new locality arrangements   

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Appropriate LD and MH cases are part of the local neighbourhood offer in specialist boroughwide teams 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17006 Develop support planning to make better use of peoples own 
and community resources 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for 
older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018.. 

 

Support plans have been developed and reviewed and now more asset based 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17007  Increase the % of people who use cash budgets  31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for 
older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018 .. 

 

The percentage of cash budgets has increased and we are on track for the year end internal target of 35% with aspirations to increase during 
18/19 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17008  Reduce long term care home placements  31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for 
older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018.. 

 

The service is on track for achieving the target of a 3% reduction in care home placements supported by the LA 28/03/18 
 

 

 

AC17009 Develop health personal budgets as part of joint packages of 
care 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for  

P
age 73



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018.. 

Work continues with PHBs and joint processes are being developed to audit personal health budgets. Expected progress has been achieved at 
year end with further development into 2018/19 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17011 Extend the range of care and support options for people with 
learning disabilities  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for 
older and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options 
for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of 
social capital by March 2018.. 

 

The commissioning team continues to work with providers. There are a number of new developments in progress that will be completed in 
2018/19 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17016 Extending effective Trusted assessor arrangements to 
include all wards at Fairfield Hospital  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at 
home 91 days .. 

 

 

 

 

AC17017   Increasing the % of people able to be independent as a 
result of enablement services 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at 
home 91 days .. 

 

Progress is still being made and currently 86% of people who were discharged from  hospital into reablement services were still at home 91 
days after discharge 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17019 We will strengthen the transition arrangement, and  for young 
people with the most complex needs 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: The production of a clear plan for service improvement plan for services for 0 – 25yrs  for children and young people   

The data set work has been completed providing dynamic information for this service user cohort. The data includes PRS, projected / or actual 28/03/18 

P
age 74



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 April 2018 
 

  

         

costs and covers known cases from 16 to 18 and details of care packages for the 18 to 25 group.  
 

 

 

AC17020 Increase the options for more people with learning 
disabilities to gain and keep employment, working with 
commissioners, established employment support providers and 
employers  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 7% of adults with a learning disability to be in paid employment  

Our 7% target outturn for LD employment is on track. The 18/19 Employment contract is on track to be in place to reflect the LD/MH ASCOF 
performance indicators. ....The LD client group / ‘people furthest away from the jobs market will feature in plans being developed by the local 
Work and Health Steering Group....Both the LD Partnership Board & The Autism Board have 18/19 work steams designed to promote 
employment for people furthest away from the jobs market .. 

28/03/18 

 

 

 

AC17012  Improve social care governance and service delivery as part 
of the joint service provided by RBC and Pennine Care Foundation 
NHS trust (mental health provider)  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved 
Mental Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments... 

 

Governance has been completed and MOU refreshed and currently reviewing mental health services with pennine care. MOU phase 2 will be 
implemented from June building on development work  

28/03/18 

 

 

 
 

   

 

P
age 75



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 27th June 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Carolyn Whitham
Public/Private Document Public

3rd & 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members with a summary of Adult and Children’s Social 
Care complaints and compliments received during the second half of 2017/18.

Recommendation

2.
It is recommended that Members of the Committee consider and scrutinise the 
information contained in the report and assess whether further information or 
explanation is required regarding any of the issues raised in the report.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Part of the Council’s performance management process is to ensure the
Authority’s ambition to continuously improve services is realised, and actions 
or decisions may need to be taken to maintain improvement.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Appendix 1 to the report provides a brief commentary relating to complaints 
dealt with under the relevant complaints procedure by Adult Social Care and 
Children’s Social Care Services during the 3rd and 4th quarters of 2017/18. 

Appendix 1 also includes examples of how an individual complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution as requested by Members at a previous 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

Appendix 2 provides details of complaints in graph form.  The format of the 
report includes information on trends, and the graphs display trend analysis 
for each quarter in the reporting period.  

Adult Social Care complaint figures will also include details of any complaints 
regarding financial assessments received during the reporting period.  This is 
a function carried out by the Revenues and Benefits Service.  

The Customer Feedback Team are working with services to improve the 
quality of information recorded, and to ensure lessons are being learnt from 

Page 76

Agenda Item 11



4.1

complaints and action taken is recorded and reported.  

To improve complaints monitoring, the Customer Feedback Team also 
provides weekly status reports to Assistant Directors to enable closer 
monitoring of current complaints.  

Alternatives Considered

None.  Information has been compiled from the complaints recording system 
which is used to record complaints and compliments received by social care 
services.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. Outstanding fees of £881.43 for the Appointee Service were waived following 
the outcome of an Adult Social Care complaint which was upheld.

Complaints considered at stage two or stage three of the Children’s Social 
Care complaints procedure have financial implications due to the statutory 
requirement to appoint an external Independent Person and in some cases an 
external Investigating Officer at stage two, and three independent people to sit 
on a Review Panel at stage three. All costs associated with Children’s Social 
Care complaints incurred throughout the year are included in the Children’s 
Social Care Annual Complaints Report.

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this 
report.

Complainants have the opportunity to refer their complaint to the Local 
Government & Social Care Ombudsman for up to twelve months from 
completion of the Council’s complaints process; therefore there is a risk that 
the outcome of a future Ombudsman investigation into a complaint may 
result in a recommended financial remedy.  Complaints considered by the 
Ombudsman are reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee annually on 
receipt of the Ombudsman’s annual report.

6.

Consultation

7. Not applicable.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None.

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Whitham, Tel: 01706 923508, 
carolyn.whitham@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 77



1

Appendix 1
Complaint Statistics

Adult Social Care

In June 2007 the Department of Health provided a set of proposals to unify and 
reform the current arrangements for making complaints across Health and Adult 
Social Care; ‘Making Experiences Count.’ As well as fulfilling the commitment in 'Our 
Health, Our Care, Our Say', it proposed a radical new approach to complaints 
handling which is more flexible and supports organisational learning. 
The formalised guidance for the new arrangements was published on 25 February 
2009; ‘Listening, Responding, Improving’ and the Regulations were laid before 
Parliament on 27 February 2009 for councils and health organisations to implement 
from 1 April 2009. 
These Regulations enshrine a duty to co-operate with health partners in relation to 
complaints that cut across Health and Social Care Services.
The Council introduced a joint complaints process for dealing with Health and Adult 
social care complaints from 1 April 2009.  It relates to concerns received from this 
date onwards and is in line with the Making Experiences Count initiative.  
Where a complaint is received about Adult Social Care Services functions or functions 
of any party to the Joint Protocol (i.e. Health Partners) the organisation which 
receives the complaint handles the co-ordination of the complaint.   
The process for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints is a one stage process.  If 
the complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may 
refer their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Not all complaints received by Adult Care are eligible to be considered under the 
statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will be 
considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of Adult 
Care complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.
10 new complaints were received by Adult Care Services during the second half of 
2017-18.  Details of these complaints and their outcomes can be found below.

The types of complaints received

3 new complaints were received during the third quarter 

1 complaint was partially upheld:
 1 Actions of Team Leader

2 complaints were not upheld.

7 new complaints were received during the fourth quarter 

1 complaint was upheld:
 1 Invoice received for Appointee fees

2 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Joinery work carried out by Home Improvement Agency
 1 Care costs & discharge arrangements from Tudor Court

4 complaints were not upheld.

Page 78

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Legalandcontractual/Complaintspolicy/MakingExperiencesCount/index.htm
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_095408
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2009/uksi_20090309_en_1


2

Appendix 1

Examples of Action Taken and Lessons Learned

Third Quarter

As a result of the partially upheld complaint regarding the actions of a Team Leader, a 
recommendation was made for a review of internal managerial processes to be 
undertaken to address any concerns raised in respect of practice issues.

Fourth Quarter

Following the complaint regarding receipt of an invoice for Appointee fees, changes 
were implemented in relation to the confirmation of RBC Appointee fees due and the 
issuing of invoices relating to these fees following the death of a service user.

As a result of the complaint regarding discharge arrangements from Tudor Court, an 
apology was given that the complainant found the financial information provided to be 
unclear.  Communication was issued to ensure that this is made transparent to all 
involved parties when considering provisions requiring financial contributions in the 
future.

Timescales

There is no statutory timescale for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints, and the 
timescale is agreed between the Investigator and the complainant in each case.  
However, the aim is to complete investigations within 25 working days. The average 
time taken to deal with Adult Care complaints during the second half of 2017-18 was 
25.8 working days which was slightly over target.  

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how an Adult Social Care complaint has been dealt 
with from receipt to resolution.

Complaint

A complaint was submitted via the online feedback form by a relative of a service user 
regarding care charges and discharge arrangements from Tudor Court. The 
Customer Feedback Team contacted the complainant by telephone for more details 
of the concerns and to confirm details of the service user.  The complaint was then 
passed to the Head of Service and allocated to a senior manager for investigation.  

The Investigating Officer contacted the complainant to discuss their concerns and 
desired outcome, and a timescale was agreed for response.  

An investigation was undertaken into the issues raised, which included meeting with 
staff from Tudor Court and reviewing information held on the case file regarding care 
provision and information provided to the family regarding the required contributions. 
The investigation was completed within the timescale agreed with the complainant, 
and the overall finding was that the complaint was partially upheld.  

A full written response was provided to the complainant detailing the findings of the 
investigation and actions taken as a result of the complaint.  An apology was included 

Page 79



3

Appendix 1
for the points of complaint that were upheld.

The Investigating Officer also contacted the complainant by telephone to discuss the 
findings and the complainant was happy with the outcome.

A number of recommendations for service improvement were implemented following 
the investigation, details of which are included under ‘Lessons Learned’ above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  A 
total of 20 compliments were recorded for Adult Care Services during this reporting 
period, a breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
STARS 14 Service User (9)

Relative of Service User (5)
STARS Plus Team 3 Service User (1)

Relative of Service User (1)
Professional (1)

Home Improvement Agency 1 Relative of Service User (1)

Occupational Therapy 2 Service User (2)

“I want to say a heartfelt thank you for the care and assistance I have enjoyed for the 
past three weeks from your excellent STARS service.  The service swung into action 
the morning after I came out of hospital following a hip replacement and has helped 
me very quickly to achieve independence around the home.   I am now able to get out 
on crutches round the gardens in the village.  The care was kind and thoughtful as 
well as efficient as they enabled me to do things for myself again and regain 
independence with dignity.  Please thank the lovely ladies who visited and my thanks 
to you for your personal encouragement.  The STARS service is very aptly named.” 
Compliment for STARS Team

“I received a phone call from a gentleman who explained how he had been into 
Number One Riverside to look into getting a white stick as he is partially blind.  He 
said that the service he received from the front desk Receptionist and the Senior 
Rehabilitation Officer was exceptional and he wanted to pass on this positive 
feedback.  The gentleman advised that in addition to him acquiring a white stick, the 
officer will also be attending his home address to see if there is anything else Adult 
Care is able to offer him.  He said he was very pleased with the service he received.”
Compliment for Community OT Team

“To each and every carer, just a note to thank each of you for your hard work, 
commitment, care, love and compassion shown towards my nan.  She has had a 
great few weeks and come on so much. We are very grateful.  Excellent service, keep 
up the great work.  Each and every one of the workers has shown a high level of 
care.”  Compliment for STARS Plus Team

“We wanted to note our appreciation on record for the officer for giving advice, 
supporting us when we were frustrated, understanding when we were feeling 

Page 80



4

Appendix 1
impatient, listening to us when we were struggling and more importantly working with 
officers behind the scenes to ensure the unknowns attached to the project were 
addressed to the best of his professional ability.  
Compliment for Home Improvement Agency

“I would like to thank all my carers for their help and kindness during the weeks they 
came to help.  I would also like to thank the OT who made everything easier for me to 
manage.”
Compliment for STARS & Occupational Therapy Teams

“I am most grateful for all the help you provided for my mother.  The considerate and 
respectful care from all members of the STARS Team has enabled my mother to 
make good progress.  We have enjoyed your company and will miss your friendliness 
and chats. Best wishes for the future.”
Compliment for STARS Team

Page 81



5

Appendix 1
Children’s Social Care

Changes were made to the children’s social services representations procedure as a 
result of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, Adoption and Children Act 2002 and 
the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.

Complaints are dealt with in accordance with The Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. 

The handling and consideration of complaints under this procedure consists of three 
stages: 
Stage 1 - Local Resolution
Stage 2 - Investigation 
Stage 3 - Review Panel 

Local Resolution requires the local authority to resolve a complaint as close to the 
point of contact with the child or young person as possible (i.e. through front line 
management of the service). In doing so the local authority should consider the 
wishes of the complainant about how the complaint should be dealt with. In most 
circumstances complaints should be considered at Stage 1 in the first instance.

Consideration of complaints at Stage 2 is normally achieved through an investigation 
conducted by an investigating officer and an independent person. Stage 2 
commences either when the complainant requests it after an investigation at Stage 1, 
or where the complainant and the local authority have agreed that Stage 1 is not 
appropriate.

Where Stage 2 of the complaints procedure has been concluded and the complainant 
is still dissatisfied, he/she will be eligible to request further consideration of the 
complaint by a Review Panel. It is not possible to review a complaint that has not yet 
been fully considered at Stage 2 (including providing the reports and adjudication to 
the complainant). 

Following the conclusion of all three stages of the complaints process, if the 
complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may refer 
their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Information relating to Children’s Social Care complaints is available on the Council’s 
website, and leaflets providing full details of the complaints process and how to raise 
concerns are provided as required.  The Children’s Rights Service has also 
developed complaints leaflets specifically for children in care.
Not all complaints received by Children’s Social Care are eligible to be considered 
under the statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will 
be considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of 
complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.  
A total of 19 new complaints were received by Children’s Services in the second half 
of 2017-18, 15 of which were dealt with under the statutory Children’s Social Care 
complaints procedure at stage one.  4 complaints were dealt with under the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure.  In addition, 2 complaints were considered at stage two, 1 of 
which was dealt with under the statutory procedure and 1 of which was dealt with 
under the Corporate complaints procedure.

Page 82



6

Appendix 1
As can be seen below and from the graphs in appendix 2, the number of complaints 
received increased during the 4th quarter.  None of the complaints received in the 4th 
quarter were fully upheld, and 9 were partially upheld.  Details of the complaints and 
their outcomes can be found below.

The types of complaints received

5 new complaints were received during the third quarter 

5 new complaints were considered at stage one

5 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Actions of Social Worker and issues with contact arrangements
 1 Delay in telephone calls being returned 
 1 Level of support provided by Additional Needs Service
 1 Preparation of Education & Health Care Plan (EHCP) (corporate complaint)
 1 Breakdown in communication regarding EHCP (corporate complaint)

1 complaint was received at stage two

1 complaint was partially upheld:
 1 Actions of Social Worker

14 new complaints were received during the fourth quarter 

14 new complaints were considered at stage one

9 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Lack of communication and actions of Social Worker
 1 Issues relating to contact arrangements
 1 Adoption Support Funding (ASF)
 1 Safeguarding assessment process 
 1 Reduction in Special Guardianship allowance 
 1 Actions of Social Worker from Children with Disabilities Service
 1 Response to concerns raised re contact arrangements
 1 Failure to provide information
 1 Delay in processing invoice (corporate complaint)

5 complaints were not upheld (including 1 corporate complaint)

1 complaint was received at stage two

The complaint was being dealt with under the Corporate Complaints Procedure and 
was subsequently withdrawn.

Examples of Action Taken and Lessons Learned

Third Quarter

Following the complaint regarding a Social Worker and issues with contact 
arrangements, one point of complaint was upheld which related to minutes of core 
group meetings not being provided to the complainant.  An apology was given, and 

Page 83



7

Appendix 1
assurances that the newly allocated Social Worker will ensure minutes are made 
available going forward.

Further to the corporate complaint regarding preparation of an EHCP, a number of 
recommendations were made:

 The final EHC Plan captures any parental views expressed on the draft plan 
where a significant change is made between the draft and final plan.  

 The service asks a parent at the onset how regularly they wish to be updated 
and a timescale is agreed.

 Any telephone conversations are confirmed in writing.

Following the corporate complaint regarding a lack of updates about an EHCP, an 
apology was given for the breakdown in communication that had occurred.  If the 
team has difficulties in contacting the parent in the future they will obtain an 
alternative contact number or send a message via the school.  The school was also 
asked to arrange an early annual review meeting which would be attended by an 
officer from the SEN Assessment Team.

Fourth Quarter

Following the complaint regarding the actions of a Social Worker and a lack of 
communication, the Manager discussed the concerns raised with the Social Worker 
concerned for them to consider the impact of their actions and make appropriate 
adaptations to practice. 

Further to the complaint regarding the safeguarding assessment process, one point of 
complaint was upheld with regards to a delay in providing information relating to a 
Child in Need meeting. This was discussed with the worker concerned, and 
subsequent meetings were arranged when the complainant was able to attend.

As a result of the corporate complaint relating to a delay in an invoice being 
processed, a reminder  was given to  staff  to keep  people informed if  their  invoice  
is  delayed  and  to provide an explanation for the  delay.   A review of internal 
communication processes to take place between  Finance and the service to ensure 
more  robust communication between  the  two areas, especially  when  new   
requirements  are  introduced relating to  external  providers  and  invoicing.

Timescales

There are statutory timescales for dealing with Children’s Social Care complaints at 
each stage of the process.  Every attempt is made to resolve complaints within the 
initial timescale; however, the regulations allow the timescale for each stage to be 
extended in consultation with the complainant.

Stage 1 10 working days (can be extended to up to a maximum of 20 working 
days)

Stage 2 25 working days (can be extended up to a maximum of 65 working 
days)

Stage 3 Acknowledgement within 2 working days, review to be held within 30 
working days.

15 of the complaints received during the third and fourth quarters were dealt with 
under the statutory Social Care complaints procedure at stage one, 9 of which were 

Page 84



8

Appendix 1
responded to within the statutory timescale.  4 complaints were dealt with under the 
corporate complaints procedure, 3 of which were dealt with within timescale.

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how a Children’s Social Care complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution.

Stage one complaint

A complaint was received via email to the Customer Feedback Team and the Director 
of Children’s Services.  The complaint was from parents and related to the process for 
completing an Education and Health Care Plan (EHCP).  As the nature of the 
complaint did not meet the criteria to be considered under the Children’s Social Care 
statutory complaints procedure it was considered under the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints procedure.  The complaint was allocated to a senior manager for 
investigation and a formal acknowledgement was sent to the complainants confirming 
the timescale for response.

The Investigating Officer arranged to meet with the complainants to discuss their 
points of concern and desired outcome from the complaint.  A full investigation 
followed, which included reviewing information held within the service, and discussing 
the concerns with the officers involved. On conclusion of the investigation the 
complainants were provided with a full written response detailing the findings and 
recommendations.  The complainants were invited to contact the Investigating Officer 
if they wished to discuss the outcome of the investigation or clarify any points within 
the response.

The complainants subsequently advised that they were not happy with the outcome of 
the investigation and requested that their complaint was escalated to stage two of the 
process.  The request was acknowledged and the complaint was allocated to another 
senior manager for a stage two investigation to be undertaken, however the complaint 
was subsequently withdrawn by the complainant.

A number of recommendations were made following the outcome of the complaint at 
stage one, details of which are included under the ‘Lessons Learned’ section above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  14 
compliments were recorded for Children’s Social Care Services during the second 
half of 2017-18, a breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
First Response Team 5 Professional (2)

Young person (2)
Parent (1)

SEN Team 2 Professional (1)
Parent (1)

Fostering Team 1 Foster Carers

Page 85



9

Appendix 1

“Hi how are you, hope you are good.  I really miss you and everyone does and thanks 
for your help that really helped me and I have more make up hahaha. I hope I will see 
you again.  Bye.”  Compliment from young person for First Response Team

“Just to let you know, I really enjoyed the skills to foster course! I would absolutely 
love to go on any more that would be available or suitable for me. It was delivered 
fabulously and even though it was very informative it was very interesting. The 
officers were brill! You could really see how passionate they were about their job roles 
and also for these young children, it was so refreshing! It has really made me want to 
foster, if I had home space and time it will definitely be something I would consider 
doing. Thank you for setting us up on this course, I loved it!”
Compliment for Fostering Team

“I would also like to add that the child’s EHC paperwork is one of the most thorough 
and informative plans I have seen. I actually felt like I had met him just from reading 
his plan!” Compliment for SEN Team  

“Just a quick note to say thank you.  I know Social Services get a bad reputation, but 
at the end of the day they are here to help children.  We had a very good experience 
with you, and the children loved seeing you and are going to miss you.  So thanks 
again and hopefully we won't see each other again (in a nice way).  So thanks for all 
your help and support.”  Compliment for First Response Team

“I would like to bring to your attention the fantastic work and support that the officer 
from Rochdale Additional Needs Service brings to schools and families. Her advice 
and support has been greatly appreciated and has had a positive impact on many of 
our families thus far this year. Her commitment, flexibility and knowledge has been 
second to none that as a school we felt it should be passed on to yourselves. The 
work that Rochdale Additional Needs Service does for the borough is a credit to the 
local offer and towards supporting our Rochdale families.” 
Compliment for RANS Team

“I really want to thank you for this morning, as stupid as it sounds you two have given 
me what I needed to fight, I don’t feel helpless and I’m really grateful for that. So 
thank you.”
Compliment for Sunrise Team

Cared for Children 1 Professional 

ACT Service 1 Parent

Sunrise Team 1 Parent

Children with Disabilities 1 Relative of young person

Occupational Therapy 1 Relative of young person

Additional Needs Service (RANS) 1 Professional

Page 86



Appendix 2

1

P
age 87



Appendix 2

2

P
age 88



Appendix 2

3

P
age 89



Appendix 2

4

P
age 90



Appendix 2

5

P
age 91



Appendix 2

6

P
age 92



1

SPRINGHILL HOSPICE
QUALITY ACCOUNT 

2017 - 2018
Springhill Hospice (Rochdale)
Broad Lane
Rochdale
OL16 4PZ
Registered Charity No:  701798
www.springhill.org.uk
Incorporated as a Company Limited by Guarantee No 2325905

Page 93

Agenda Item 12



2

Springhill Hospice
“Making every moment count”

 “I just wanted to write a few words to say how 
grateful we all were for the wonderful way my wife was 
cared for during her last few weeks.  

It was an enormous comfort to all of our family to 
know that she was being looked after in such calm, 
tranquil surroundings and by such dedicated and 
caring people.”

Page 94



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

3

TABLE OF CONTENTS            Page

Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive   4
  

About us   
 Statement of Philosophy     5

Priorities for improvement 2016/17   6
  

Progress on priorities for improvement 2015/16   7
                                    

Statement of assurance from the Board  
 Review of services   9
 Duty of Candour   9
 Research  10
 Participation in clinical audits  10
 Learning from clinical incidents  17
 Management of complaints, concerns, comments  

and suggestions  19
 Staff training  21
 Goals agreed with Commissioners  23

What others say about Springhill Hospice  
 Statements from the Care Quality Commission  27
 Statements from others we work with  30

Data quality  32

Safeguarding  33
 

Quality overview  33
 

What Our Patients and their Families say about Springhill Hospice  35  

Submissions for Comment  38

Appendix A:  Duty of Candour Policy  39

Page 95



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

4

STATEMENT ON QUALITY FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

I am delighted to present this Quality Account for Springhill Hospice.

As an organisation, we continually strive to offer the best possible service to our patients and 
their families at all times ensuring a high quality and individualised approach.

As in previous years, 2017/18 has seen a strong focus on learning from results of audits, 
incidents, complaints, and service evaluations across both clinical and corporate areas, to 
ensure that the services we deliver are of an extremely high quality, and reflect the needs and 
wishes of those we serve. Examples of this learning can be seen within this report.

You will read of our commitment to the ongoing education and development of our staff, which 
in turn, improves the quality of service we provide to our patients and their families, but also 
ensures that the staff delivering services, feel confident and able in their abilities and skills.

It is testament to the hard work and dedication of Trustees, Staff and Volunteers who deliver 
our services that we have met our key priorities for the previous year, which has attracted 
funding and support from Health Education England, and also private financial donations to 
support improvements to the quality of our premises.

This quality account is intended to demonstrate to all who read it, that our Hospice provides a 
high quality service, where patients and their families will receive the very best standards of 
care possible.

I confirm that to the best of my knowledge, the information contained within this Quality 
Account is a true and accurate reflection of quality at Springhill Hospice.

Julie Halliwell
Chief Executive
 

Page 96



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

5

ABOUT US

Springhill Hospice offers specialist palliative care services to patients with life-limiting illnesses 
and emotional and psychological support for their families.  Hospice services include a 16-bed 
Inpatient Unit, where patients are admitted for end-of-life care, symptom management and 
respite; Day Hospice where patients can access psychological, complementary and creative 
therapies; Lymphoedema Clinic, Counselling and Bereavement services and a 24 hour specialist 
palliative care advice line for patients, families and healthcare professionals.  We also offer 
Specialist Palliative Care and End-of-Life Community Services consisting of a Clinical Specialist 
led Medical service, Specialist Nursing service, Hospice at Home service for patients at the end 
of life, a Night sitting service, Physiotherapy, Social Work, Counselling and Spiritual Support.

STATEMENT OF PHILOSOPY

As a specialist palliative care unit, Springhill Hospice:-

 provides the highest standard of physical, psychological, emotional and spiritual care for 
patients and their families, friends and carers.

 encourages patients to maintain independence and control, and to make informed 
choices, whilst respecting privacy and dignity.

 offers advice and support from the time of referral, throughout the illness and into the 
bereavement period.

 offers post bereavement therapies, psychotherapy and counselling.

 offers information and education to patients, families, friends, carers and professionals, to 
promote a high standard of palliative care across the community.

 respects all cultural, religious and personal beliefs, placing the emphasis of care on 
individual need.

 audits and reviews the services it provides to ensure appropriate clinical standards are 
maintained and services are delivered effectively.

Page 97



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

6

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 2018/19

Springhill Hospice is fully compliant with the Care Quality Commission Fundamental Standards 
and with the Health and Social Care Act, 2008.  As such, the Board did not have any areas of 
shortfall to include in its priorities for improvement for 2018/19

The Board and Executive Management Team have identified several key priorities for 2018/19 
as follows:

Future Planning Priority 1

Develop New Income Generation Strategies

During early 2018, a Fundraising and Communications strategy has been developed to align 
with the overarching Hospice Strategy 2017-2022. Further planning will take place to ensure 
we are able to measure the effectiveness of all of our income generation strategies, ensuring 
effective return on investment, to maximise income, with an aim of reducing forecast deficits.

Future Planning Priority 2

Strengthen Partnership Working

During 2018, we have signed an agreement to work in collaboration with seven other Greater 
Manchester Hospices. We have jointly funded a project manager who will represent Greater 
Manchester Hospices (GMH) in influencing the Greater Manchester Health & Social Care 
Partnership (GMHSCP) agenda, to promote the inclusion, assimilation and commissioning of 
specialist palliative and end-of-life care provided by hospices.

Future Planning Priority 3

Quality and Development Lead post

In March 2018 we successfully recruited into a new post of Quality and Development Lead.  A 
need for this post had been identified, certainly over the last 12 months, due to the significant 
increase in the requirement to produce reports, both in relation to the NHS Standard Contracts 
we hold for the Clinical Commissioning Groups and the quarterly CQUIN reports but also in 

Page 98



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

7

relation to the increase in legislative requirements with regard to the new Care Quality 
Commission frameworks for inspection and provider information returns, Safeguarding self-
assessments, the new GDPR regulations and other statutory requirements.  The postholder will 
work closely with the Chief Executive and the Director of Clinical Services to ensure full 
compliance with all statutory and legislative requirements and will work across the Hospice, in 
all Clinical and Non-clinical areas, working with managers and staff with a focus on improving 
quality across the organisation.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 2017/18

The following areas were identified as Key Priorities for 2017/18: 

Key Priority 1

Improving engagement with ‘Hard to Reach’ Groups 
Springhill Hospice aims to ensure that all patients are able to access our services and we will 
continue employ innovative means of engaging patients from hard to reach and under-
represented groups in our community. 
In February 2018 Springhill Hospice, in collaboration with St Ann’s Hospice, Heald Green, 
submitted a proposal to Health Education England (HEE), for funding to support a joint 
initiative to facilitate/deliver training and awareness sessions to vulnerable populations across 
the Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire footprint.
We are delighted to report that this joint proposal has been successful and funding from 
Health Education England has been made available to support the project.  Springhill Hospice 
Education team will be working closely with St Ann’s Hospice to launch this initiative in May 
2018.

Key Priority 2

Developing our Workforce

This year will see 2 Trainee Assistant Practitioners graduate from the Foundation Level degree 
programme, becoming Assistant Practitioners in their area of work, one on the Hospice 
inpatient unit and one working with the Specialist Nursing team in the community.  The 
programme has been funded by Health Education England.
In addition, a senior staff nurse on the inpatient unit, having completed the Independent 

Page 99



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

8

Prescriber programme and Clinical Assessment module and is now working as a Specialist 
Nurse on the Hospice inpatient unit and a further member of our nursing team who has 
completed her practice as an Associate Specialist Nurse within the Community has now taken 
on the role of Specialist Palliative Care nurse within the service.

Key Priority 3

Partnership Working
Springhill Hospice continue to work in partnership with the team from Continuing Health Care 
(CHC) in the delivery of our Night Sitting service.  CHC commission packages of care for 
patients who have been assessed as having significant and complex health needs.  
Traditionally these packages of care have been commissioned from local Domiciliary Care 
Agencies.  CHC are now commissioning some night sits from Springhill Hospice where the 
patient has been ‘fast-tracked’ for end of life care.  All our night sitters have qualifications in 
end of life care and Hospice experience.  This guarantees the patient a high standard of service 
and continuity and Springhill are able to deliver the services at a significantly lower rate as a 
not-for-profit organisation.  

Key Priority 4

Improving the Environment for Patients and Families 

During 2017 we are undertook a significant refurbishment project of a number of Hospice 
areas, improving the environment for patients and families. A number of bedrooms and 
corridors on the inpatient unit have had new carpets, decoration and fire-retardant curtains. 
Each of the bedrooms has had new bedside cabinets fitted. The patient’s bathroom and toilet 
has been re-painted to give a warm and relaxing feel and the bathroom has new LED soft 
coloured lighting installed. A ‘virtual window’ has been installed in the patient’s bathroom, to 
make the area more tranquil and relaxing. The Rose room and adjoining family room (a quiet 
private area for family members to spend time with deceased patients) has been refurbished 
with new furniture, curtains and pictures for the walls. 

Page 100



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

9

STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

The following are a series of statements that all providers must include in their Quality Account.  
Many of these statements are not directly applicable to specialist palliative care providers.

REVIEW OF SERVICES

During 2017/18 Springhill Hospice has provided the following NHS services:

Inpatient services
Day Hospice services
Outpatient services
Psychological & Supportive Care services including Counselling service and Bereavement service
Community Specialist Palliative Care Medical and Nursing services
Community Physiotherapy, Social Work, Counselling and Spiritual Care services
Hospice at Home service
Night Sitting service
Lymphoedema service
Bereavement service
24 hour Advice Line service

Springhill Hospice has reviewed all the data available on the quality of care in all of these 
services. 

Springhill Hospice Specialist Palliative Care and End of Life integrated Community Service 
receives 100% funding from Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group.  
The service is currently subject to a Standard NHS Contract for 2 years to June 2019.

For other Hospice services, the income generated by a variety of contracts and agreements with 
the NHS represents 24.7% of the total income generated to enable the provision of these 
services by Springhill Hospice.  Total income is up by more than £1 million for 2017/18 due to 
the high value of legacies received within this year.  The remaining funds were generated 
through fundraising and the Hospice’s own subsidiary companies working with the local 
community.

DUTY OF CANDOUR

Duty of Candour is a statutory legal and contractual responsibility and ensures openness and 
honesty with patients or their families when things go wrong and patients are harmed as a 
result.

Springhill Hospice have implemented a Duty of Candour policy which all staff are familiar with. 
The policy can be seen at Appendix A

Page 101



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

10

RESEARCH

Springhill Hospice has not participated in any research studies in 2017/18. 

PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL AUDITS

Springhill Hospice has not participated in any regional or national Clinical Audits in 2017/18

During 2017/18 there were no national clinical audits or national confidential enquiries covering 
NHS services relating to palliative care.  Springhill Hospice only provides palliative care services.

Internal audits undertaken:

During 2017/18 Springhill Hospice undertook a number of audits across the organisation.  Audit 
tools are developed to measure compliance with Hospice policy and Standard Operational 
Procedures, which in turn reflect our commitment to ensure compliance with the Care Quality 
Commission Fundamental Standards.

Audit Subject Outcome Learning from audits
Absence from Work, 
September 2017:
To ensure employees are 
safeguarded during times 
of illness, to protect the 
interests of the organisation 
by controlling unnecessary 
absences and to identify 
problems and initiate 
actions to resolve them.

5 standards fully met
5 standards partially met.
10 staff files checked:

 Absence reporting 
slips missing for 2/10 
files checked

 No rationale 
documented for 2 
staff members on 
long-term sick leave 
who had not been 
referred for 
Occupational Health 
assessment

 In 2 instances 
frequent short term 
sickness absence 
meetings had not 
taken place – no 
rationale to explain 
why this had not 
happened

 Staff welfare 
proformas completed 
in only 3/5 cases 
identified

 Special leave forms 
not completed in 2/5 

All managers reminded of the process 
to follow relating to the management 
of long term sick leave, special leave, 
welfare meetings and the management 
of frequent short-term absences.

To remain on the annual audit 
calendar.

Page 102



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

11

cases
Administration of 
Medicines (Inpatient 
Unit), September 2017:
To ensure the 
administration of 
medication on the Hospice 
inpatient unit complies with 
Hospice policy and CQC 
Guidelines for the 
Management of Medicines.

All standards fully met in 
respect of this audit

Audit result indicates a high standard 
of professional practice and compliance 
with policy.

Administration of 
Medication via a Syringe 
Driver, may 2017:
To ensure the 
administration of all 
medicines via a Syringe 
Driver complies with 
Hospice Policies and 
legislative requirements

All 7 standards from this audit 
fully met.

A very pleasing result from this audit 
demonstrating a high level of clinical 
practice.

No changes identified to policy or 
practice.

Assessment of Patients’ 
Nutritional Status, 
August 2017:
To ensure the patients 
nutritional needs as 
appropriately met.

9/10 standards fully met.
1 standard partially met.
Audit identified patients’ 
dietary needs forms updated 
only once a day.  Standard 
indicates a requirement to 
update twice daily 

Ward staff reminded to update dietary 
need forms twice a day.

To remain on annual audit calendar.

Clinical Documentation 
(Community), May 
2017:
To ensure that all 
community services 
documentation complies 
with Hospice policy, NMC 
guidance for record keeping 
and CQC standards

Specialist Nursing case notes:
8 standards fully met
2 standards partially met
2 standards not met.

iCare patient record
14 standards fully met

Changes to practice implemented:
 To ensure all patient 

documentation identified with 
patient ID label

 Community liaison sheet 
amended to include section for 
signature, date & time

 When iCare smart forms are 
printed off to ensure they are 
signed, dated and timed before 
filing in nursing case notes

Signatory sheets to be signed by all 
professionals involved in patient’s care

Complaints, May 2017:
To ensure that all 
complaints received are 
actioned as per the Hospice 
complaints policy

4 standards fully met.
2 standards partially met.
In the majority of cases 
evidence available to 
demonstrate that complaints 
have been fully investigated 
and appropriate feedback 
given to the complainant in a 
timely way.

 One instance where 
evidence was not 
available of any 
feedback to 
complainant.

Some lack of consistency in 

Change to policy implemented 
incorporating a ‘sign-off’ from CEO or 
Deputy then subsequent reporting 
through Governance & Audit 
Committee.

Page 103



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

12

the reporting of complaints 
through Operational 
Management Team meetings 
but evidence they had been 
reported to the Trustees via 
the Governance & Audit 
committee.

Disposal of medicines, 
January 2018:
To ensure the disposal of 
medicines within Springhill 
Hospice complies with 
hospice policies and 
legislative requirement 
relating to the management 
of medicines.

9/10 standards fully met.
1 standard, relating to the 
disposal of cytotoxic drugs, 
not applicable at the time of 
this audit.

A very pleasing result from this audit 
with all standards met.

Education, Training & 
Development, February 
2018:
To monitor systems and 
processes in place for 
recording Education and 
Training and to monitor 
compliance with 
requirements for mandatory 
training.

8/13 standards pertaining to 
this audit fully met.
4 standards partially met.
1 standard not met.

 From Staff Care 
records, in relation to 
attendance at taught 
mandatory training 
sessions, attendance 
rate 87.56%.

 Insufficient evidence 
of action taken by 
managers when staff 
had not attended 
required taught 
mandatory sessions.

 5 examples looked at 
where staff had 
attended external 
training:  In one 
instance this was not 
supported by a 
completed application 
form, manager 
approval or completed 
repayment of course 
fees form

Reverted back to previous system 
where non-attendance at required 
training results in a letter from the 
Director of Clinical Services, stating 
that a note of concern has been put on 
file and that disciplinary action will be 
taken in repeated instance of non-
attendance.

Managers reminded of the need to 
ensure completed application forms 
and repayment of course fees forms 
are received for staff attendance at 
external training sessions.

Falls, September 2017:
To audit the completion 
and ongoing review of Falls 
Risk Assessment 
documentation

All 7 standards within this 
audit fully met

Slight amendment has been made to 
the “Investigation of Patient fall” form 
to make it more ‘user-friendly’.

Fire Safety, November 
2017:
To ensure the welfare of 
patients, visitors, staff & 
volunteers is safeguarded 
in the event of a fire and to 
ensure that all Hospice staff 

6/10 standards fully met.
4 standards partially met.

 6 Staff personnel files 
checked for evidence 
of induction. One file 
did not contain and 
induction checklist 

Administrator informed of the failings 
relating to staff induction forms.

Head Steward reminded of the 
requirement to fully complete the Fire 
alarm Log Book when the alarm is 
activated and to document dates for 

Page 104



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

13

and volunteers are 
compliant with policy 
requirements and 
procedures relating to fire 
risk management, fire 
safety advice and 
evacuation.

and one other file held 
an indication checklist 
but the Fire Safety 
section had not been 
signed off by the staff 
member.

 Fire alarm log book 
not signed by 
Engineer following 
regular maintenance 
of fire alarm system. 

 For the period 
checked for this audit, 
there had been 2 
incidents where the 
fire alarm had been 
activated.  For one of 
these incidents 
observations and 
comments had been 
documented in the 
Fire Alarm Log book.  
In respect of the 
second incident the 
log book was only 
partially completed.

 Fire drill are to be 
carried out at least 
every 6 months and a 
plan in place.  At the 
time of this audit 
there was no written 
record of the plan for 
future fire drills

future planned fire drills.

Off-site Engineer requested to attend 
to complete the Log book in respect of 
the annual Fire Alarm maintenance.

A documented plan is now in place for 
future fire drills.

Food Safety (1), May 
2017:
To ensure compliance with 
legislation and continuous 
improvement within the 
catering service

6/10 standards fully met.
3 standards partially met
1 standard not met.
Audit identified:

 one member of the 
catering team had not 
completed required 
food Hygiene training

 3 members of the 
team did not have 
current certificates of 
training in their 
personnel files

All staff involved immediately 
undertook required training 
programmes and current certificates of 
achievement now in personnel files.  
System now in place to ‘flag up’ when 
training is due to be undertaken.

New catering manager to review audit 
form and to include new standard 
relating to allergens:  Food allergen 
labelling and requirements under the 
EU food information for consumers, 
Food Standards Agency 2015

Food Safety (2), March 
2018:
To ensure compliance with 
legislation and continuous 
improvement within the 
catering service

7/10 standards fully met
4 standards partially met
Audit identified:

 “Opening and closing 
kitchen” sheets dated 
and signed but no 
checklist of what staff 

New standard in relation to allergens 
successfully achieved and 
demonstrating safe practice.

Staff had not always recorded if 
required checks completed.  
Inconsistent record keeping addressed 

Page 105



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

14

should be checking.
 Fridge temperature 

checks – a number of 
entries show out of 
target range 
recordings but no 
evidence if this had 
been reported.

 Daily cleaning 
schedules completed 
but unable to 
determine if weekly, 
or less frequent, 
cleaning not 
completed or not 
recorded.

 Majority of foods 
found to be in original 
packaging or had 
stickers with day of 
the week to identify 
when opened.  A 
small number of dry 
products decanted 
without retaining 
original packaging.

with improved communication and 
continuous monitoring.

Laminated checklist now available for 
staff to sign against on a daily basis.

Staff reminded to report any anomalies 
(fridge temps) to the catering 
manager.

Staff reminded of the importance of 
retaining products in original packaging 
or correctly labelling decanted 
products.

Giving References for 
Current and Previous 
Employees, October 
2017:
To ensure references are 
completed as per Hospice 
policy.

7/8 standards pertaining to 
this audit fully met.
1 standard not applicable at 
this time.

An excellent result from this audit 
indicating full compliance with policy. 

Infection Prevention 
and Control, October 
2017:
To ensure that Infection 
Control measure are in 
place across the Hospice 
which comply with hospice 
policy and legislative 
requirements.

10 standards pertaining to this 
audit fully met.
2 standards partially met.

 When checking the 
schedules for 
decontamination of 
clinical equipment 
some signatures 
missing from the 
schedule.

 When checking 
patient bathrooms for 
appropriate IPC 
equipment, found that 
some bathrooms did 
not contain hand 
decontamination gel.

Issues identified were rectified 
immediately at time of audit and 
inpatient unit staff reminded of correct 
procedures to follow.

Information 
Management and 
Security, January 2018: 
Annual audit is a 
requirement of the 

11/12 standards fully met.
1 standard partially met.

 When patient 
information sent to GP 
practices by fax, 

Community nursing staff having some 
difficulties contacting GP practices by 
telephone.  From discussions with the 
team this function has now been 
passed to the Community Medical 

Page 106



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

15

Information Governance 
Toolkit

policy states a 
telephone call should 
be made to ensure 
the fax has been 
received.  This was 
found to not be 
happening in some 
cases.

Secretary.

Maintenance of 
Medical/Clinical 
Equipment, February 
2018:
To ensure that all medical 
and clinical equipment is 
serviced and maintained in 
accordance with Hospice 
policy and legislative 
requirements.

All standards pertaining to this 
audit fully met.

During the audit it was observed that 2 
patients’ recliner chairs had Hospice 
PAT testing labels on.  These chairs are 
PAT tested by the maintenance 
company and do not need to be PAT 
tested by the Hospice – Hospice 
Stewards reminded of this.

Ordering and Receipt of 
Medication, July 2017:
To ensure the practices of 
ordering and receiving 
medication complies with 
hospice policies and CQC 
standards.

All 6 standards pertaining to 
this audit fully met.

A very pleasing result from this audit, 
indicating full compliance.

Patient Transport, 
September 2017:
To ensure compliance with 
the Patient Transport policy

3 standards pertaining to this 
policy fully met.
3 standards partially met.

 12 records checked.  
10/12 records 
contained information 
regarding mode of 
transport for 
admission.  2 records 
did not contain this 
information 

 9/12 records 
contained information 
relating to mode of 
transport on 
discharge.  3 records 
did not contain this 
information.

 In one instance 
relating to volunteer 
drivers (Day hospice) 
the Volunteer Co-
ordinator had not 
indicated the issue of 
an emergency kit to 
the driver (although 
this had, in fact, been 
issued).

Reminder sent to all relevant staff to 
include details of mode of transport for 
admission and discharge of patients, 
on the iCare patient record.

Volunteer Co-ordinator reminded of the 
importance of completing relevant 
documentation.

Professional 
Registration and Re-

All standards fully met Excellent result from audit 
demonstrating full compliance with 

Page 107



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

16

registration for Health 
Professionals, May 
2017:
to check that effective 
procedures are in place to 
ensure professional 
registrations are up-to-date

policy requirements

Storage of medicines 
(IPU), November 2017:
To ensure the storage of 
medicines complies with 
Hospice standards and 
legislative requirements 
relating to the management 
of medicines.

All 7 standards pertaining to 
this audit found to be fully 
met.

No changes to policy or practice 
indicated.

To remain on the annual audit 
calendar.

Page 108



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

17

LEARNING FROM CLINICAL INCIDENTS

Springhill Hospice encourages an open approach to reporting all incidents, both clinical and 
non-clinical.  All incidents are reported, investigated and managed immediately and incident 
reports subsequently collated and reported through the Hospice Risk Management sub 
committee and Governance Committee.  All incidents are categorised according to the incident 
area and level of risk.  Where the incident involves a patient fall, this will then be subject to a 
risk assessment and appropriate action taken.  Any significant injury will be reported 
appropriately to the Care Quality Commission as a statutory notification and reported to the 
Health and Safety Executive (RIDDOR) as appropriate. All incidents relating to controlled drugs 
will be reported by the Hospice Accountable officer for Controlled Drugs (AO) to the 
Accountable Officer of the CCG via the Local Intelligence Network.  

Reported incidents are often the catalyst for change, both in clinical practice and in policy.

The following incidents were reported in 2017/18:  

Category Indicator No of incidents
Clinical 
incidents

77

A1 Directly affects patient either by action or omission 32
A2 Potential to affect patient 40
A3 No potential to affect patient 5
Falls/injuries 103
B1 Significant injury - patient 1
B2 Minor injury  64
B3 No injury sustained 38
Other 
incidents

131

C1 Direct affect to individual/organisation ie theft, damage 43
C2 Potential to affect individual/organisation 81
C3 No potential risk identified 7
Drug 
incidents

57

D1 Directly affects patient either by action or omission 16
D2 Potential to affect patient 23
D3 No potential risk to patient but deviation from policy 18
Pressure 
ulcers

1

P1 Hospice acquired pressure ulcer 0
P2 Community/hospital acquired pressure ulcer identified on 

admission
1

Total number of reported incidents 369

Reported incidents are often the catalyst for change, both in clinical practice and in policy. 
Evidence of this can be seen in the following examples:

Page 109



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

18

1 Patient informed nursing staff that her fentanyl patch had come off her arm.  Nurses 
replaced the fentanyl patch.  It subsequently transpired that the previous patch had not 
come off but was in place on the patients shoulder.  

Learning from this incident resulted in an amendment to the Fentanyl chart which now 
includes a section for checking/ensuring previous patch has been removed.

2 Finance department.  Invoice paid twice.  This incident occurred as an invoice had been 
printed in the finance department but also in the retail department and sent to finance for 
payment.  

Learning from this incident resulted in the finance department printing invoices in colour 
and only these invoices presented for payment.

3 Youths causing a disturbance in one of the Charity’s retail outlets.  One paid staff member 
and one volunteer on duty.

Learning from this incident resulted in all staff working in retail or fundraising now carry 
Skyguard personal safety devices.

4 Of the 103 injuries reported, 33 of these relate to patient falls incidents on the inpatient 
unit.  Patients referred to the hospice inpatient unit, by the very nature of their disease 
and the medications they may be prescribed to manage symptoms, are more at risk of 
sustaining a fall while they are in our care.  

Over the last 2 years we have reviewed the way we assess patients in relation to their falls 
risk and the use of safety rails on patients beds and how we manage this risk.  Admission 
documentation and falls risk assessment documentation has been reviewed and amended 
over the last 12 months and we have purchased a range of equipment including low beds 
and pressure mats/alarms etc which we can use where the patients are assessed to be at 
risk of falling. Where possible patients with a high risk of falls are nursed in areas where 
they can be closely supervised and, on occasion, we have provided staffing on a one-to-
one basis to maintain the patient’s safety.

Page 110



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

19

MANAGEMENT OF COMPLAINTS, CONCERNS, COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS

Springhill Hospice encourages feedback in a variety of ways from patients, families, staff, 
volunteers and visitors.

Comments/suggestions boxes are available in the Reception area, Inpatient Unit and Day 
Hospice unit.  Comments and suggestions are reported through the Operational Management 
team meetings.

Feedback from patients and families are also encouraged through a variety of feedback cards, 
satisfaction surveys and questionnaires, reported through the Clinical Standards sub committee 
and Governance Committee.

Complaints are managed through policy and an annual audit of the complaints procedure is 
undertaken.  All complaints received are taken extremely seriously, thoroughly investigated and 
a response to the complainant made in writing.  Even in cases where the complaint has not 
been upheld we strongly believe that we can always learn from the experiences of others where 
their perception of Hospice services is less than satisfactory.  The Hospice received the 
following complaints in 2017/18:

Total number of complaints received 23
Total number of clinical complaints 4
Total number of non-clinical complaints 19
Total number of complaints resolved within timeframe 23

Learning from Complaints

Managing complaints received is seen as an opportunity to consider and review the quality of 
services we provide and can often be a catalyst for change:

Evidence of this can be seen in the following examples:

1 Complaint received from the wife of a patient who had been admitted onto the Hospice 
inpatient unit relating to a number of issues which had occurred.  These issues related to 
communication prior to admission, communication between the patient’s family and the 
medical team and the treatment and care delivered.

The complaint was investigated by the Director of Clinical Services who dealt with each 
issue with the relevant member of staff concerned.  The investigation resulted in the 
implementation of several changes to processes in order to improve the patient/family 
experience.  The complainant was fully satisfied with the response received and the 
proposed actions to be taken.

Page 111



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

20

2 Complainants (2 relatives of 2 inpatients) expressed concerns at the way a Staff Nurse 
had spoken to them to other staff members.  They felt the Staff member lacked 
professionalism and behaved inappropriately.

This complaint was investigated by the ward sister, following which a letter of concern 
was issued to the staff member.  However, further concerns came to light after this 
incident relating to the behaviour of this particular staff member, who was subsequently 
dismissed.

3 Complainant upset by the quality of food being served on the inpatient unit, at tea time, 
on Saturdays and Sundays.

Investigation carried out by the Chief Executive.  This resulted in the weekend cook being 
seen by the Corporate Services manager and instructed, with immediate effect, to make 
several changes to ensure our patients received the same quality service at weekends as 
they receive during the week.

4 Complainant concerned by the ‘pressurising’ attitude of a Hospice Lottery Canvasser who 
called at her house.  Another member of the household already had two active lottery 
numbers but this didn’t deter the Canvasser from pursuing the complainant in a manner 
she found unacceptable.

Complaint dealt with by SEC Fundraising Ltd who employ the Hospice’s lottery Canvassers 
and the following action has been taken:

 SEC to improve the Advisor Compliant Handbook in line with the new fundraising 
rules and include more information about how to interact with people who cannot 
afford to join the Lottery;

 SEC to closely monitor the practice of the Canvasser in question

Page 112



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

21

STAFF TRAINING

Springhill Hospice is committed to the ongoing education and development of staff in order to 
ensure services are delivered in a safe, effective manner to the highest possible standard.

Training and education, including mandatory training is delivered in a way that is meaningful 
and best suited to the learning needs of the individual staff member.

MANDATORY TRAINING

Mandatory training is delivered using an online training package.  Mandatory training subjects 
are delivered over a 2 year rolling programme.

Online training completed over the 2 year period 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2017 is as 
follows:

Course completed No of staff completed
Challenging Behaviour 143
Communicating Effectively 155
Confidentiality 128
Diversity & Equality 121
Fire Training 157
Health & Safety 154
Infection Control 150
Mental Capacity 91
Moving & Handling theory 148
Food Hygiene 71
Record Keeping 78
Safe Administration of Medicines 53
Safeguarding 123
Data Awareness Training 131

Page 113



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

22

FURTHER TRAINING

In addition to the mandatory training programme, we deliver education and training relevant to 
staff roles by means of taught sessions and/or training workbooks.  The following additional 
training has been delivered to Hospice staff from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018:

Course completed No of staff completed
Advice line training – Agitation and Secretions 5
Advice line training – Breathlessness 13
Breathless Management Training 14
Medical Gases 16
Advice line training – Breathlessness/anaphylaxis 12
Male Catheterisation 11
Continuous Positive Airways Pressure training 17
Carer Support Needs Assessment Tool 19
Drug Calculations 11
First Aid training 20
Fatigue management 4
Fire Safety (Hospice specific) 134
Mental Capacity Update 4
Metastatic Spinal Cord Compression 4
Moving & Handling Practical training 94
Advice Line training – Palliative Care Emergencies 19
Prostate Cancer 7
Personal Safety Training 46
Resuscitation 85
Advice Line training – Nausea & Vomiting 11
Skyguard (personal safety device) training 12
Heart Failure 6

Page 114



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

23

GOALS AGREED WITH COMMISSIONERS

Use of the CQUIN payment framework

Under the terms of the NHS Standard Contract, Springhill Hospice income in 2017/18 is 
conditional on achieving identified Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) relating to activity and 
quality standards agreed with Commissioners and is also conditional on evidence of achieving 
quality improvement and innovation goals through the Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation payment framework.

Quarterly reports on quality and activity data are submitted to Commissioners  

In addition, for the year 2017/18, a CQUIN scheme has been agreed with Commissioners 
relating to Advance Care Planning:

Springhill Hospice CQUIN proposal – 2017/18

Advance Care Planning project

Introduction
Since 2014 Springhill Hospice teams have worked towards educating staff, volunteers and our 
patients, and their families, on the benefits of Advance Care Planning (ACP). This work is one of 
many of the initiatives Springhill have generated and we were pleased that the release of the 
document ‘Ambitions for Palliative and End of Life Care’ (2015-2020) corresponded with the 
hospice ethos. ACP is integral to supporting the six ambitions named as:

 Each person is seen as an individual - By ACP discussions we can understand what 
is important to each individual

 Each person gets fair access to care – By raising awareness of ACP we can work 
towards fair access to care including minority groups and non-malignant diseases, which 
is also highlighted in the CQC report ‘A Different Ending’ (2016)

 Maximising comfort and wellbeing – in order for ACP to take place there needs to 
be discussions around the support that is available locally for end of life care, including 
symptom management and psychological care for the dying person and their loved ones

 Care is coordinated -  once completed ACP decisions should be appropriately shared 
so that services can work together to achieve the wishes of the individual

 All staff are prepared to care – By understanding those we care for and their 
particular requests helps staff to see them as a person, an individual, which generates 
compassion and empathy

 Each community is prepared to help - The volunteering workforce has long been 
associated with hospice care, and these volunteers often have a wide variety of 
knowledge and expertise that can be utilised for the benefit of the local community.

Page 115



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

24

In order to achieve these ambitions it is essential we collaborate, cooperate and find new ways 
of raising awareness within the communities and encourage all health and social care staff to 
think of the wider issues relating to palliative and end of life care. 

Our education team has introduced the concept of Advance Care Planning within programmes 
of Education for Health & Social Care Practitioners across the Borough.

Patients under the care of our Specialist Palliative Care Team, both within the Hospice and in 
the Community, are encouraged, where this is appropriate, to consider their wishes, choices 
and preferences for their care at the end of life. Patients are encouraged, where this is 
appropriate, to share this with their families and to create an Advance Care Plan document 
which records their wishes and which could be used if the patient became unable to verbalise 
their personal choices.

Advance Care Planning, means different things to different people and is specific and individual 
to that person.  Advance Care Planning is also more than producing a document.  It is 
introducing a concept to patients and their families, where they can start to think about what is 
important to them and to initiate these difficult discussions with professional caregivers and 
members of their family.

All our Specialist Palliative Care Nurse are involved in Advance Care Planning discussions with 
their patients.  This may, or may not, lead to the production of an Advance Care Plan document 
but encourages patients to think about and share their thoughts on what is important to them.

Advance Care Planning choices can include, but are not limited to:
 Where the patient may want to be cared for at the end of life
 Where the patient may want to be when he/she dies
 DNACPR discussions
 Treatment choices
 Wishes for their funeral
 Wishes around personal care when they can no longer verbalise this
 Choices in respect of their environment when they can no longer verbalise this

All the above are discussed at length in Education programmes delivered at Springhill Hospice.  
Programmes incorporating ACP training include:

 Springhill Palliative Care Education Passport (SPCEP)
 Finding the Words training
 Dementia workshops
 Learning disability workshops

The Project
The plan for engaging in further work, as a CQUIN, would mean taking this work forward.  This 
would be achieved by the implementation of a multi-level project which would combine 
recommendations not only from the Ambitions document but also more specific reports which 
will be noted at the side of each element of the project:

Page 116



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

25

1. Raising awareness
Education team and Specialist Palliative Care Team taking a programme of training out 
to other groups in the community.

 Solicitors 
 South Asian community (Bridging the gap 2015)
 Mental Health - Rochdale Borough wide User Forum (RBUF) see report ‘A 

Different Ending (2016)
- Butterflies Outreach (Transgender Community) 
- LGBGT Coffee Mornings
- Asian Men’s Gay & Bisexual Group

 African community see report ‘Palliative and End of Life Care for the Black and 
Asian community’ (2013)

 RBC Education – Social Workers & Occupational Therapists
 GP surgeries – see report ‘Triggers for Palliative Care - Improving access to care 

for people with diseases other than cancer’ (2015)
- GP patient groups 
- Bitesize flyer – ACP
- Video messaging on screens at GP surgeries

 Rochdale Infirmary
- Wed afternoon – Coffee & Cake group (Patients in receipt of intermediate 

care)
- Information Stand – ACP – Wolstenholme ward & possibly the Oasis unit

NB:  All attendees at the above groups and any posters/flyers would be given Springhill 
Hospice contact number for further information and signposting to Compassion in Dying 
website and ACP documentation

2. Volunteer service 
A team of volunteers trained to assist with completion of ACPs for patients known to 
Springhill Specialist Palliative Care service.
Specialist palliative Care team will have initial discussion with patient/family and, where 
the patient indicates he/she would like to complete an ACP, a trained volunteer will be 
available to visit the patient/family to go through this with them.

 Volunteers trained by the team at Springhill Hospice
 Clear Guidelines for Practice
 Risk assessments and Safety as a high consideration

See report “Hiding who I am” 
(2017)

Page 117



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

26

3. Improved data reporting on patients known to the service.

Currently data is reported to HMR CCG on a quarterly basis, as per agreed Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs).  This includes the reporting of all possible variables in 
respect of Advance Care Planning:

 Patient has formal Advance Care Plan document
 Patient has verbalised Advance Care Plan preferences
 Patient has discussed Advance Care Planning – under consideration
 Patient does not have Advance Care Plan
 Patient declined
 Not appropriate at this time

Within this CQUIN we would like to look at improving the quality of this data to include, 
not only the numbers of patients where ACP discussions have taken place but to look at 
what these discussions have focused on, what quality elements were important to the 
patient and where there were any barriers to the process.

This can be done by utilising the Springhill Hospice iCare patient information system to 
capture both the data, as previously reported, but also the richer qualitative data.

From the above Advance Care Planning project we would hope to be able to report:

Raising awareness:
The number of ACP sessions delivered, to which groups and attendance figures
The number of contacts we have received from these sessions in respect of further information

Volunteer ACP service:
The number of ACP documents completed by our volunteers with patients

Improved reporting:
In addition to the current data report, to report on qualitative data from Specialist Palliative 
Care Team discussions with existing patients in the last 12 months of life:

Quarterly ‘milestone’ reports have been submitted to Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG at 
the end of each quarter, indicating achievement of expected outcomes at each milestone.  A 
clear outcome from the work so far is a greater understanding, for Hospice staff and other 
Health and Social Care professionals across the borough, of the benefits for patients and 
families of Advance Care Planning leading to honest and open discussions and how this can 
impact upon the quality of care provided. 

Page 118



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

27

WHAT OTHERS SAY ABOUT SPRINGHILL HOSPICE

Statements from the CQC  

Springhill Hospice is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current 
registration status is unconditional.  The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement 
action against Springhill Hospice during 2017/18.

Springhill Hospice has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC 
during the reporting period.

Springhill Hospice was subject to a routine inspection by the Care Quality Commission in August 
2016.  From this inspection the Care Quality Commission have issued Springhill Hospice with 
the following overall rating for the services provided:

Springhill Hospice 
(Rochdale) 

CQC overall rating
Good 

22 December 2016

1. Is the service safe?

“All areas of the Hospice were secure, well maintained and accessible for people with 
limited mobility.  In addition good infection control procedures were in place, making it a 
safe environment for people to live and work in.

Sufficient suitably qualified and competent staff that had been safely recruited were 
available at all times to meet people’s needs.  Suitable arrangements were in place to help 
safeguard people from abuse.

Medicines were not always given as prescribed, appropriate systems were not in place for 
the management of medicines requiring refrigeration and relevant information to enable 
staff to administer ‘when required’ medicine safely was not in place.”

2. Is the service effective?

“Staff were passionate about the need to spread awareness and knowledge of end of life 
care by introducing an innovative and creative programme of training for staff caring for 
people in care homes.  The education provided by the Hospice also extended to other 

Good

Page 119

http://www.cqc.org.uk/?referer=widget3


QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

28

professionals in the community caring for people with a life limiting illness; helping to 
ensure the best possible care for people and for their families.”

Staff were able to demonstrate their understanding of the principles of the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).  People were 
involved in making decisions about all aspects of their treatment and care.

People were provided with a choice of suitable nutritious food and drink to ensure their 
health care needs were met.  People were supported to eat and drink and maintain a 
balanced diet”

3. Is the service caring?

“People told us they received the care they needed when they needed it and that staff 
were knowledgeable and committed.  People spoke highly of the kindness and caring 
attitude of the staff.  People were care for with the utmost compassion, kindness, dignity 
and respect.

People were supported at the end of their life to have a comfortable, dignified and pain-
free death.  The nursing and medical staff showed they were highly skilled in pain and 
symptom control and provided outstanding end of life care”

4. Is the service responsive?

“The care records showed people were involved in the assessment of their needs.  A 
person’s preferred place of care at all stages of their illness and the arrangements in the 
event of their death was documented.

Staff were skilled in recognising when a person was in the last days of life and were able 
to provide the appropriate care.

Suitable arrangements were in place for reporting and responding to any complaints or 
concerns.”

5. Is the service well-led?

“The service had a manager in post who was registered with the CQC.

Clear lines of accountability and effective methods of communication were in place to 
ensure people received the best possible service.  Systems were in place to monitor the 
quality of the service provided to help ensure that people received safe, effective care and 
support.

Accidents of incidents that CQC needed to be informed about had been notified to us by 
the registered manager.  This meant we were able to see if appropriate action had been 
taken by management to ensure people were kept safe.”

Page 120



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

29

Action taken from Inspection:

 A process has been put in place to ensure that, where the clinical refrigerator exceeds the 
maximum temperature (8°c) this will be reported promptly and appropriate action  
taken.

 The ‘as required’ medication chart has been reviewed and amended to ensure sufficient 
information and instruction is available to staff administering medication

Page 121



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

30

STATEMENTS FROM OTHERS WE WORK WITH

“I have worked as a GP in Rochdale for 25 years. Springhill Hospice is thought of very highly by 
GPs and with good reason.  I have lost count of the number of patients who have been helped 
by the wonderful caring team at Springhill and I know that when I refer a patient I can rely on 
a highly professional approach from all the staff, delivered in a uniquely personable fashion. 
The role of the Hospice has expanded over the years and my patients have benefited from the 
Day Hospice, from the Specialist Community Nursing Team and from the Bereavement service. 
I know also that I can call at any time for expert advice from the clinical team. The commitment 
to continual excellence and improvement is evident in the educational programme which is 
much appreciated by local GPs. This helps to maintain vital links between professionals working 
to help the patient – who is of course central to all our strivings.”

Dr Jennifer Ransome
General Practitioner

Stonefield Street Surgery
NHS Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale

“I have worked as a nurse based in general practice at Longford Street Medical Centre in 
Heywood since 2006.
Throughout my time spent in the role as a practice nurse there I have been proactive in the 
development of the of the palliative care services that are delivered to our patients with a 
terminal prognosis as a result of a life limiting illness. 
As a consequence of this I have been extremely privileged to work closely with the highly 
commendable members of staff working through a multitude of disciplines and competencies at 
Springhill Hospice.
 

The care that they deliver is fundamental to the quality of care that ultimately our patients 
receive throughout their journey both within the community and hospice setting. The individual 
members of staff always maintain a professional and holistic approach to the patient and their 
loved ones and ensure that they are treated with the greatest possible respect, ensuring their 
dignity is always conserved.
 By virtue of their clinical expertise and ongoing education the staff never fail to provide an 
exceptionally high standard of care to our patients and they are always on hand to offer 
invaluable advice, guidance  and support to us to assist in our  deliverance of  gold standard of 
care.”

Michele Corcoran RN
Practice Nurse

Longford St Medical Centre
Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale

Page 122



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

31

“I came to Springhill Hospice to do my practice hours as part of my ‘Return to Practice course’.  
I had been out of nursing for twelve years so was understandably nervous about coming back 
onto a ward to work.  Also, my background is in elderly care, not palliative care, so this was a 
totally new area to me.  However, the experience I gained in the Hospice was amazing.  I was 
overwhelmed with the support I received from all the nursing staff, carers and doctors, who 
were very approachable and willing to teach.

The standard of nursing care is extremely high and no question felt too trivial to ask.  I had a 
welcome pack on arrival and worker with my mentor for 90% of my placement.  This gave me 
continuity and confidence to nurse all patients with a passion, and practically, to complete my 
drugs assessment and areas of competency I needed.  This enable me to complete my 
placement in a third of the predicted time allowed.

I have not only gained my confidence as a nurse during this placement, but a wealth of 
knowledge that I will be using/applying in the coming days as I practice, once again, as a 
registered nurse.

Thank you to all the staff at Springhill Hospice who made my placement such a pleasurable 
experience.  

Judith Roberts 
Return to Practice Nurse

Page 123



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

32

DATA QUALITY  

Springhill Hospice is not required to and did not submit records during 2017/18 to the 
Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the 
latest published data.

Springhill Hospice was not subject to Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2017/18 
by the Audit Commission.

Springhill Hospice undertakes to ensure that information is managed appropriately with regard 
to confidentiality, and privacy of individuals, in line with statutory requirements including, but 
not limited to, the Data Protection Act 1998 and GDPR due May 2018.

The Hospice complies with all requirements made by the Care Quality Commission and other 
statutory bodies requiring information to contribute to national health care studies and data 
sets.  In line with these requirements, an Information Sharing Protocol is in place with The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust, Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, Heywood, Middleton and 
Rochdale CCG, Bury CCG, Oldham CCG and North Manchester CCG for secure information 
sharing.  The signed documentation is held in a central file by the IT / Data Officer.

The Hospice actively completes the Health and Social Care Information Centre Managed 
Information Governance Toolkit annual assessment.  For the 2017/18 (Version 14) assessment 
the Hospice approved and submitted an attainment of 74% (satisfactory), which included the 
achievement of at least the minimum level two compliance for all criteria.

The Hospice ensures that records are retained for the required statutory periods, including 
health records, employment records and financial records.

Compliance with Statutory Requirements

Care Quality Commission C29, C31
Data Protection Act 1998
GDPR (Due May 2018)
Records Management Code of Practice for Health and Social Care 2016
The Public Records Act 1958
Access to Health Records Act 1990 (with regard to information held about patients who are 
deceased)
Caldicott Committee Report (December 1997)

The Hospice undertakes annual audits of documentation and information management and 
security to ensure data integrity.

All staff are required to undertake annual training in Information Management & Confidentiality, 
this includes NHS Digital Data & Security Awareness Training.

Page 124



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

33

SAFEGUARDING

In accordance with the NHS contract, Springhill Hospice has submitted the Safeguarding self-
assessment toolkit with Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Adults Board (RBSAB), demonstrating 
full compliance across all areas for 2017/18.

All Hospice staff have received training in respect of Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults, Mental 
Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding.

QUALITY OVERVIEW

Springhill Hospice uses the iCare patient information system.  The iCare system is used for 
recording medical, demographic and statistical information which is shared between 
professionals involved in the patient’s care and used to evaluate services.  All clinical staff have 
access to, and contribute to, the system.  Icare is also used to collate patient data in terms of 
reports for our Commissioners and for Minimum Data set recording for the National Council for 
Palliative Care.
For the year 1.4.17 – 31.3.18 activity as follows:

INPATIENT UNIT 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of admissions 359
Total number of discharges 183
Total number of deaths in Hospice 176

MEDICAL OUT-PATIENTS 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of patients referred 11
Total number of contacts 18

DAY HOSPICE 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of patients referred 204

SPECIALIST COMMUNITY SERVICE 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of patients referred 633
Doctor visits 156
Specialist Nurse visits 3291
Physiotherapy visits 379
Social Worker visits 114
Counsellor visits 34
Chaplain visits 53
Complementary Therapist visits 120
SPC Support Worker visits 499
Current caseload 254 (+ 175 ‘on hold’)

Page 125



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

34

HOSPICE AT HOME 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of patients/families referred 247
Total number of H@H team visits 1891

NIGHT SITTING SERVICE 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of referrals 86
Total number of Hospice night sits 731
Total number of Marie Curie night sits 467

24 HOUR SPECIALIST PALLIATIVE
CARE ADVICE LINE

1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018

Total number of calls received 167

LYMPHOEDEMA SERVICE 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of referrals to service 25
Total number of interventions 139
Current caseload 99

PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Total number of referrals to services 280
Number of counselling interventions (1-2-1) 412
Number of bereavement interventions (1-2-1) 987
Number of clients attended Ber. Group 1546
Number of Bereavement home visits 94

Page 126



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

35

 
WHAT OUR PATIENTS AND THEIR FAMILIES SAY ABOUT SPRINGHILL HOSPICE

Springhill Hospice’s feedback programme is designed to elicit information about the care and 
services received by patients and families from their individual perspective.  A variety of 
feedback cards have been developed to capture the experience of patients and their relatives 
and friends, across the Inpatient unit, Day hospice unit and community service settings.  The 
cards, based on the concept of the ‘family and friends test’ have been designed to be easy to 
complete and to capture, from the perspective of the patient or family member … “What did we 
do well?” and “What could we do better?”

Inpatient Unit & Day Hospice

Feedback cards are given out to, and made available to, our patients and their relatives and 
friends.

Specialist Community Services (including Specialist Nursing, Hospice at Home and 
Night Sitting service)

Feedback cards are sent out on a monthly basis to a random sample of current Community 
patients.  Cards are posted out to the family members of patients who have died whilst under 
the care of our Hospice at Home service and also to patients in receipt of our Night Sitting 
service. 

Counselling and Bereavement services

As part of our ongoing evaluation of services, periodic satisfaction questionnaires are sent out 
to clients who been in receipt of the Counselling service and Bereavement service.

 
Letters of Support from Families and Thank You Cards

In addition to periodic surveys and questionnaires we also continue to receive many cards of 
thanks and support from patients and families across all services.

Community services:

“I would like to thank you for your help and support during my husband’s illness.  It really 
makes a difference knowing you are there for advice, or just to listen.”

“I just want to pass on my heartfelt thanks to you and all the team at the Hospice who have 
given their help and advice over the past few months.  I has been so reassuring to have had 
your support during Mum’s illness and I am so grateful that she was able to stay in her home 
and to end her life there peacefully.”

Page 127



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

36

“Thank you for all you did for our family; from looking after mum to supporting us all, you 
made it that little bit easier, knowing we had you.”

“I just wanted to write a few words to say how grateful we all were for the wonderful way my 
wife was cared for during her last few weeks.  It was an enormous comfort to all of our family 
to know that she was being looked after in such calm, tranquil surroundings and by such 
dedicated and caring people.”

“Words cannot express our gratitude for the care and support our Mother received from all the 
staff and volunteers at the hospice.  You are all very special people and we will never ever 
forget.”

Inpatient Unit & Day Hospice:

“To all the staff, Doctors, Nurses and Volunteers.  The care you have shown me has been first 
class whilst I have been here at Springhill.  You are all very caring and professional people.  
God bless you all.”

“Thank you to all the staff and volunteers at Springhill for the care, compassion and kindness 
shown to myself and my family during my stay here at Springhill.”

“Thank you for helping, caring and making our Mum laugh in her last year.  She loved coming 
to the Hospice to see everyone.”

“Thanks to all the Hospice staff and Hospice at Home nurses for all the care and help given to 
our Mum during the last weeks of her life.  It was a great comfort to us to know she was being 
cared for by such caring people.”

“To all the amazing staff.  Just want to say a huge ‘thank you’ for the love and care you have 
given my wife over the past weeks.  You have made her feel like a person again and have put 
the twinkle back in her eyes.”

“We would like to thank you for the care and understanding you have shown both to my Mother 
and to the whole family.  The staff and volunteers do such amazing work which creates a well-
run, caring and professional environment, which helps so many in difficult and emotional 
times.”

“Amazing place.  You helped my Mum until the day she died and even when she passed away, 
made the family so comfortable.”

Page 128



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

37

Counselling service:

“I really appreciated that I had someone to help me through this awful time.  Counselling 
helped me through the dark times, so now I feel stronger than I did.”

“Invaluable – probably saved my life.”

“I felt that I had learned a great deal about having coping strategies.”

“I feel much more hopeful for the future.”

“Much more in control of my emotions.  Able to cope and plan.”

“I never thought I would get my head around losing someone but the counselling has helped.”

“I now believe I am a stronger person and I am really ready to face things.”

“I am more accepting of my Mother’s condition and better able to accept her failing health and 
death.”

“I have regained my confidence and logical thinking.”

Bereavement support:

“I can look forward with an improved interest in everyday life.”

“To accept what I cannot change”

“I don’t think you ever get over your loss, after so many years together, but it helps to give you 
inner strength to cope better with life.”

“Thank you for helping me become me again!”

“It helped me realise that what I am feeling is normal.”

“Adapting to my new life slowly.”

“Starting to be able to not blame myself and feeling more ‘normal’ again.”

Page 129



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

38

SUBMISSIONS FOR COMMENT

Springhill Hospice Quality Account 2017/18 has been forwarded to the following 
bodies for comment:

 Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 Healthwatch Rochdale
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council

Page 130



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

39

Appendix A

SPRINGHILL HOSPICE 
POLICY DERIVED BY CLINICAL STANDARDS SUB GROUP

TITLE:  DUTY OF CANDOUR POLICY

Policy Statement

It is the policy of Springhill Hospice that all staff act in an open and transparent way with all 
relevant persons in relation to the care and treatment provided to service users.
Springhill Hospice promotes a culture that encourages candour, openness and honesty at all 
levels. This is an integral part of a culture of safety that supports organisational and personal 
learning.

Related Springhill Hospice policies/procedures:

All Clinical Standards Policies
Incident/Accident Policy

Responsibility/Accountability

Chief Executive (Responsible person)
Director of Clinical Services (Registered person)
and all staff

Ultimate Responsibility held by:
 Chief Executive Officer

First line responsibility held by:
 Director of Clinical Services
 Individual members of the clinical team, doctors, nurses, therapists and care staff 
 Support services staff providing catering, cleaning and stewardship, admin services
 Education and training department

All staff and volunteers are responsible for the service they offer to patients and 
their relatives.

Page 131



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

40

Requirements of policy
1. All staff will act in an open and transparent way with all relevant persons in 

relation to care and treatment provided to patients and their families. 

 Springhill Hospice promotes a culture that encourages candour, openness and honesty 
at all levels. This is an integral part of a culture of safety that supports organisational 
and personal learning. There is a commitment to being open and transparent 
throughout the Governance process and at board level.

 Springhill Hospice has policies and procedures in place to support a culture of openness 
and transparency, and ensures that all staff follow them.

 Springhill Hospice takes action to tackle bullying and harassment in relation to duty of 
candour, and investigates any instances where a member of staff may have obstructed 
another in exercising their duty of candour.

 Springhill Hospice has a system in place to identify and deal with possible breaches of 
the professional duty of candour by staff who are professionally registered, including the 
obstruction of another in their professional duty of candour. This is likely to include an 
investigation and escalation process that may lead to referral to their professional 
regulator or other relevant body.

 Springhill Hospice makes all reasonable efforts to ensure that staff operating at all levels 
within the organisation operate within a culture of openness and transparency, 
understand their individual responsibilities in relation to the duty of candour, and are 
supported to be open and honest with patients and apologise when things go wrong.

 Staff receive appropriate training, and there are arrangements in place to support staff 
who are involved in a notifiable safety incident.

 In cases where Senior staff are made aware that something untoward has happened, 
they will treat the allegation seriously, immediately consider whether this is a notifiable 
safety incident and take appropriate action.

2. As soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware that a notifiable safety 
incident has occurred the registered person will notify the relevant person that 
the incident has occurred. 

 The notification to be given in person by one or more representatives of the registered 
person.

 The person making the notification will provide an account, which to the best of their 
knowledge is true, of all the facts the registered person knows about the incident as at 
the date of the notification.

 Advise what further enquiries into the incident are appropriate.
 include an apology. 
 Make a written record which will be kept securely by the registered person.

 When a notifiable safety incident has occurred, the relevant person must be informed as 
soon as reasonably practicable after the incident has been identified. Springhill Hospice 

Page 132



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

41

is subject to the NHS Standard Contract and, as such, should be aware that the 
standard contract requires that the notification must be made within10 working days of 
the incident being reported to local systems, and sooner where possible.

 All staff working for Springhill Hospice have responsibility to adhere to the Hospice’s 
policies and procedures around duty of candour, regardless of seniority or permanency.

 A notifiable incident includes incidents that, in the reasonable opinion of a healthcare 
professional, could result in, or appear to have resulted in, the death of the person using 
the service or severe harm, moderate harm, or prolonged psychological harm.

  Where the degree of harm is not yet clear but may fall into the above categories in 
future, the relevant person must be informed of the notifiable safety incident.

 Springhill Hospice is not required by the regulation to inform a person using the service 
when a 'near miss' has occurred, and the incident has resulted in no harm to that 
person.

3. There are appropriate arrangements in place to notify the patient who is 
affected by an incident if they lack the mental capacity to make a decision 
about their care or treatment, including ensuring that a person acting lawfully 
on their behalf is notified as the relevant person.

 A person acting lawfully on behalf of the person using the service will be notified as the 
relevant person where the patient lacks the mental capacity to make a decision 
regarding their care or treatment.

 A person acting lawfully on behalf of the person using the service will be notified as the 
relevant person, upon the death of the person using the service.

 Other than the situations outlined above, information will only be disclosed to family 
members or carers where the person using the service has given their express or 
implied consent when they had mental capacity to do so.

 A step-by-step account of all relevant facts known about the incident at the time will be 
given, in person, by one or more senior members of staff. This will include as much or 
as little information as the relevant person wants to hear, be jargon free and explain any 
complicated terms.

 The account of the facts will be given in a manner that the relevant person can 
understand. For example, Springhill Hospice will consider whether interpreters, 
advocates, or other communication aids should be used, while being conscious of any 
potential breaches of confidentiality in doing so.

 Springhill Hospice will also explain to the relevant person what further enquires they will 
make.

 Springhill Hospice will ensure that one or more appropriate representatives of the 
Hospice gives a meaningful apology, in person, to relevant persons

 In making a decision about who is most appropriate to provide the notification and/or 
apology, the Springhill Hospice will consider seniority, relationship to the person using 
the service, and experience and expertise in the type of notifiable incident that has 
occurred.

4. As soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware that a notifiable safety 
incident has occurred the registered person will provide reasonable support to 

Page 133



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

42

the relevant person in relation to the incident, including when giving such 
notification.

 Springhill Hospice will give the relevant person all reasonable support necessary to help 
overcome the physical, psychological and emotional impact of the incident. This could 
include all or some of the following: 

o Treating them with respect, consideration and empathy.
o Offering the option of direct emotional support during the notifications, for 

example from a family member, a friend, a care professional or a trained 
advocate.

o Offering help to understand what is being said, for example, through an 
interpreter, non-verbal communication aids, written information, Braille etc.

o Providing access to any necessary treatment and care to recover from or 
minimise the harm caused where appropriate.

o Providing the relevant person with details of specialist independent sources of 
practical advice and support or emotional support/counselling.

o Providing the relevant person with information about available impartial 
advocacy and support services, their local Healthwatch and other relevant 
support groups, for example Cruse Bereavement Care and Action against Medical 
Accidents (AvMA), to help them deal with the outcome of the incident.

o Arranging for care and treatment from another professional, team or provider if 
this is possible, if the relevant person wishes.

o Providing support to access the complaints procedure.

5. The notification given (verbally) will be followed by a written notification given 
or sent to the relevant person containing:

 the information provided.
 details of any enquiries to be undertaken.
 the results of any further enquiries into the incident.
 an apology.

 Springhill Hospice will ensure that they give written notification to the relevant person 
following the notification that was given in person, even though enquiries may not yet 
be complete.

 The written notification will contain all the information that was provided in person, 
including an apology, as well as the results of any enquiries that have been made since 
the notification in person.

 The outcomes or results of any further enquiries and investigations must also be 
provided in writing to the relevant person through further written notifications, if they 
wish to receive them.  

6. If the relevant person cannot be contacted in person or declines to speak to the 
representative of the registered person a written record will be kept of 
attempts to contact or to speak to the relevant person.  Springhill Hospice will 
keep a copy of all correspondence with the relevant person.

Page 134



QUALITY ACCOUNT 2017 - 2018

43

 Springhill Hospice will make every reasonable attempt to contact the relevant person 
through all available means of communication. All attempts to contact the relevant 
person will be documented.

 If the relevant person does not wish to communicate with the Springhill Hospice, their 
wishes will be respected and a record of this will be kept.

 If the relevant person has died and there is nobody who can lawfully act on their behalf, 
a record of this will be kept.

 Springhill Hospice will keep a record of the written notification, along with any enquiries 
and investigations and the outcome or results of the enquiries or investigations.

 Any correspondence from the relevant person relating to the incident will be responded 
to in an appropriate manner and a record of communications will be kept

Page 135



APPENDIX

HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Work Programme 2018/2019 

The purpose of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee is:-
 
To be the responsible Committee for the Council’s health scrutiny function (with the 
exception of any referrals to the Secretary of State arising from statutory  consultations being 
referred to Council for determination); for scrutiny of Health and Wellbeing (including scrutiny 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board, particularly with reference to joint commissioning 
proposals arising between the Council and the CCG with regard to health and social care 
arrangements); and for scrutiny of partnerships or key contractors: (eg Inspired Spaces), 
Child and Adult Social Care Services; Early Help and Schools Services; the Borough’s two 
Safeguarding Boards and for the overview of the respective Portfolio Holders and Directors.
 

a. To respond to consultation by Cabinet and the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
relevant policy development proposals. 

b. To scrutinise the in-year performance of relevant Council Services, partnership 
bodies and other appropriate bodies, in accordance with the Council’s Performance 
Management Framework and against approved Service Plans, where appropriate. 

c. To instigate the appropriate action in response to adverse service performance.
d. To scrutinise inspection reports and associated action plans produced by external 

agencies (where appropriate to this Committee).
e. To review and scrutinise executive decisions where appropriate to this Committee in 

accordance with the Council’s Constitution, which have been called-in by Members of 
the Council. 

f. To receive reports, where appropriate, from the Council’s representatives on outside 
bodies, and to direct representatives to report to the Council, where appropriate.

g. To scrutinise Safeguarding arrangements, including consideration of Safeguarding 
Boards’ Annual Reports

h. To commission, scope and oversee studies and reviews relating to relevant Council 
Services and issues directly affecting the Borough and, where appropriate, to make 
recommendations to the Cabinet arising from such studies and reviews. 

i. To consider Directorate Plans in line with Council Policy.
j. To be the Council body identified to receive issues and reports from Health Watch
k. To consider, as relevant, reports from the Care Quality Commission as part of the 

wider health scrutiny considerations.
l. To receive minutes of the joint health scrutiny bodies.

27th June 2018

Work Programme To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2018/2019

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Directorate Plan Updates (4th Quarter 
2017/2018)
 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance management and 
monitoring

Page 136

Agenda Item 13



20th September 2018

Work Programme To note the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2018/19

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Directorate Plan Updates (1st Quarter 
2018/2019)
 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance management and 
monitoring

Adult Care Market Oversight Report -1st 
Quarter 2018/19
HealthWatch Rochdale – Annual Report Scrutiny of partner/providers
ACT’s (Achieving Change Together) 
Evaluation Report and SUNRISE Team – 
Annual Report 2017/18

Performance management and 
monitoring

Link4Life Annual Performance Review 
2017/18

Performance management and 
monitoring

Obesity Action Group Scrutiny of activities
Schools Final Outturns and Reportable 
Surplus 2017/18

Performance management and 
monitoring

Update on Integrated Commissioning in 
Rochdale

Presentation by Joint Director of 
Commissioning at a session ahead of 
the main meeting

Social Care Complaints Performance management and 
monitoring

Joint Health O&S Committee for Pennine 
Acute Hospitals NHS Trust

Minutes of information

29th November 2018

Work Programme Update 
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – 
Update

Scrutiny of partner/providers

Directorate Plan Updates (2nd Quarter 
2018/2019)
 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance management and 
monitoring

Adult Care Market Oversight Report -2nd 
Quarter 2018/19

Performance management and 
monitoring

CAMHS Local Transformation Plan Performance monitoring and 
management

Obesity Action Group Scrutiny of the action group’s work
GMCA Health Scrutiny Committee Minutes For information

Link4Life Annual Performance Review 
2017/18

Performance management and 
monitoring

Adult Care Market Oversight Report -4th 
Quarter 2017/18

Performance management and 
monitoring

Springhill Hospice Quality Account 
2017/2018

Update for information

Page 137



30th January 2019

Update on Integrated Commissioning in 
Rochdale

Presentation by Joint Director of 
Commissioning at a session ahead of 
the main meeting 

Work Programme 2018/2019 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust -  
Update

Health Scrutiny

Borough Locality Plan – update Health Scrutiny
Directorate Plan Update (3rd Quarter 
2018/2019):

 Children’s Services
 Adult Care Services
 Public Health Service

Performance monitoring and 
management

Adult Care Market Oversight Report – 3rd 
Quarter 2018/19

Performance monitoring and 
management

Social Care Complaints Performance monitoring and 
management

GMCA Health Scrutiny Committee Minutes For information

Items to be scheduled:
a. RBC Adoption Service – Annual Report 2017/18
b. Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Board (Children and Adults) – Annual Report 

2017/2018
c. Special Educational Needs provision in Rochdale (SEND)
d. North West Ambulance Service – presentation on service provision for the Rochdale 

Borough

Page 138


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	7 Informal Meeting of the Committee's membership
	8 Market Oversight Report: Quarter 4 2017/18
	Appendix 1 Market Oversight Report for OS Q4 2017-18 v3
	Appendix 2 Family Questionnaire Template
	appendix 2 Staff Questionnaire Template
	Appendix 2 SU Questionnaire template

	9 Link4Life Annual Performance Review 2017-18
	Append. 1 for Link4Life Annual Performance Review 2017-18
	Append. 2 for Link4Life Annual Performance Review 2017-18

	10 Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 4 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 4 Performance Update

	11 Social Care Complaints
	Append. 1 for 3rd & 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints
	Append. 2 for 3rd & 4th Quarter Social Care Complaints

	12 Springhill Hospice Quality Account 2017/2018
	13 Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19

